
1 
 

    

 

EASTERN SIERRA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (ESCOG) 

 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  

 
Friday, April 12, 2019 

8:30 a.m. 

Bishop City Council Chambers 

301 West Line Street 

Bishop, California 

 

Board Members 

Mono County Supervisor 

Stacy Corless – Vice Chair 

Inyo County Supervisor 

Jeff Griffiths –Chair 

Mono County Supervisor 

Bob Gardner 

Inyo County Supervisor 

Dan Totheroh 

Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember 

Lynda Salcido 

City of Bishop Councilmember 

Jim Ellis 

Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember 

John Wentworth  

City of Bishop Councilmember 

Karen Schwartz 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to 

participate in this meeting please contact the Clerk of the Board at 760-965-3603.  Notification 48 

hours prior to the meeting will enable the City of Bishop or Town of Mammoth Lakes to make 

reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. (See 42 USCS 12132, 28CFR 

35.130) 

 

NOTE: Comments for all agenda items are limited to a speaking time of three minutes. 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

 

3. Roll Call 

 

4. Public Comment – Notice to the Public:  This time is set aside to receive public 

comment on matters not calendared on the agenda.  When recognized by the Chair, 

please state your name and address for the record and please limit your comments to 



2 
 

three minutes.  Under California law the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Board is 

prohibited from generally discussing or taking action on items not included in the agenda; 

however, the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Board may briefly respond to 

comments or questions from members of the public.  Therefore, the Eastern Sierra 

Council of Governments Board will listen to all public comment but will not generally 

discuss the matter or take action on it. 

 

5. Update regarding ESCOG Staff Support, Town of Mammoth Lakes Assistant Clerk 

Angela DeLisle 

 

6. Approval of Minutes  

a. February 8, 2018 

b. December 8, 2017 

c. October 20, 2017 

d. August 11, 2017 

 
7. Update regarding Inyo Mono Broadband Consortium (IMBC) Advisory Council  

 

8. Discuss the potential ban of flavored tobacco 

 

9. Discuss Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership 

 

10. Update regarding Mammoth Yosemite Airport and Bishop Airport 

 

11. Update regarding next steps in considering formation of a Joint Powers Authority 

for the ESCOG 

 

12. Board and Council Reports 

 

13. Call for Agenda Items for Next Meeting 

 

14. Adjournment 

 

 



1

EASTERN SIERRA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (ESCOG)

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Friday, February 8, 2019
8:30 a.m.

Mammoth Lakes Council Chamber
437 Old Mammoth Road, Suite Z

Mammoth Lakes, CA

Board Members
Mono County Supervisor

Stacy Corless
Inyo County Supervisor

Jeff Griffiths –Vice Chair

Mono County Supervisor
Bob Gardner

Inyo County Supervisor
Dan Totheroh

Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember
Lynda Salcido

City of Bishop Councilmember
Jim Ellis

Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember
John Wentworth –Chair

City of Bishop Councilmember
Karen Schwartz

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to
participate in this meeting please contact the Clerk of the Board at 760-965-3603. Notification 48
hours prior to the meeting will enable the City of Bishop or Town of Mammoth Lakes to make
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. (See 42 USCS 12132, 28CFR
35.130)

NOTE: Comments for all agenda items are limited to a speaking time of three minutes.

1. Call to Order

The meeting started at 8:35 a.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

Chair Wentworth asked Matthew Paruolo to lead the pledge from the audience.



2

3. Roll Call

Board members Corless, Gardner, Salcido, Wentworth, Griffiths, Totheroh, and Schwartz were
present. Board member Ellis was absent.

4. Public Comment –Notice to the Public: This time is set aside to receive public
comment on matters not calendared on the agenda. When recognized by the Chair,
please state your name and address for the record and please limit your comments to
three minutes. Under California law the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Board is
prohibited from generally discussing or taking action on items not included in the agenda;
however, the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Board may briefly respond to
comments or questions from members of the public. Therefore, the Eastern Sierra
Council of Governments Board will listen to all public comment but will not generally
discuss the matter or take action on it.

SPEAKING FROM THE FLOOR

Matthew Paruolo, Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership (ESSRP) Coordinator,
introduced himself and spoke about the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership.

5. Election of Officers

ACTION: It was moved by Board member Corless, seconded by Board member Schwartz, and
carried by a 7-0 vote to nominate and appoint Vice Chair Griffiths to the Chair position.

ACTION: It was moved by Board member Schwartz, seconded by Board member Corless, and
carried by a 7-0 vote to nominate and appoint Board member Gardner to the Vice Chair position.

6. Committee Appointments

There was a discussion about the role of the Mammoth Inyo Airport Working Group. There was
a discussion among the Board about which members wanted to serve on the committees.

ACTION: It was moved by Board member Gardner, seconded by Board member Schwartz, and
carried by a 7-0 vote to nominate and appoint Board members Gardner, Salcido, Griffiths and
Ellis to the Mammoth Inyo Airport Working Group and to appoint Board members Gardner,
Wentworth, Griffiths and Schwartz to the ESCOG Joint Powers Authority (JPA) Ad Hoc
Committee.

7. Approve the minutes of December 14, 2018

ACTION: It was moved by Board member Corless, seconded by Board member Schwartz, and
carried by a 6-0 vote, with Board member Wentworth abstaining, to approve the minutes of
December 14, 2018.

8. Update regarding the Eastern Sierra Sustainable Recreation Partnership (ESSRP)
a. Introduce ESSRP Coordinator Matthew Paruolo



3

b. "Recreation Counties Attracting New Residents and Higher Incomes"
(ATTACHMENT)

c. Grant application to the Sierra Nevada Conservancy (ATTACHMENT)

Board member Wentworth spoke about a report by Headwaters Economics. There was a
discussion among the Board about connections between forest management, recreation, and
economic development.

Board member Wentworth spoke about the budget deliverables in the grant application. There
was a discussion among the Board about the status and how the grant would be implemented.

13. Update regarding next steps in considering formation of a Joint Powers Authority for

the ESCOG

This item was taken out of order.

Dan Holler, Town of Mammoth Lakes Town Manager, gave a report. He said that a JPA would

be a standalone public agency and would have all of the responsibilities thereof. He spoke about

costs to operate a new entity. He asked the Board to consider startup costs, PERS contract, HR

costs/needs, etc.

Clint Quilter, Inyo County Administrator, said there will be administrative activities in the JPA

that grants won’t cover. He reminded the group that there is no funding for a grant application

that is not successful. He warned about legal costs compounding when multiple agencies are

asking their legal counsels for opinions. He advising having a formal arrangement for legal

services.

Leslie Chapman, Mono County Administrator, spoke about reimbursement grants. She said that

agencies might need to front $100,000s prior to being reimbursed by a grant.

David Kelly, City of Bishop City Administrator, stated that the ability to get things done is going

to be difficult without having a staff person dedicated to this JPA due to limited staffing

availability from the four agencies.

Stacey Simon, Mono County Counsel, said she would update the draft JPA document to include

the suggestions from the administrators. She said that Inyo County has a contract to provide

legal services for ESTA, and she is not sure what the current cost is.

There was a discussion among the Board about cost and realistic expectations.

CONSENSUS: continue to move forward to make changes to the draft agreement.



4

9. Introducing the “Mountain Ventures Summit”

Board member Wentworth said this event is coming to Mammoth Lakes in March. He provided

details of the event.

10. Update regarding Inyo Mono Broadband Consortium (IMBC) Advisory Council

This item was not discussed.

11. Update regarding Town of Mammoth Lakes Assistant Clerk position

Jamie Gray, Town of Mammoth Lakes Town Clerk, spoke about the recruitment process and

provided an update on filling this position.

12. Update regarding Mammoth Yosemite Airport and Bishop Airport

Dan Holler spoke about operations at the Mammoth Yosemite Airport.

Clint Quilter spoke about the environmental review process for the Bishop Airport.

Board member Wentworth spoke about the impact of snow to the Mammoth Yosemite Airport.

14. Civility – discussion and introduction

Board member Gardner spoke about an item that the Mono County Board of Supervisors

approved regarding the need for more civility at the federal government level.

15. Board and Council Reports

Board member Gardner said that Mono County just completed a mid-year review and State of

the County and set strategic priorities for the rest of the year. He spoke about visiting the new

cannabis retail business in June Lake. He said Mono County approved a marijuana cultivation

business in Walker/Coleville.

Board member Schwartz reported on the celebration of life for Jim Tatum. She said that Bishop

entered into a purchase agreement with LADWP to transfer land to IMACA for affordable

housing.

Board member Griffiths reported that Inyo County has gone through a review process for two

marijuana dispensaries in the North Bishop area. He reported that the County has received a lot

of cultivation permits for locations in the southern county as well as for two dispensaries. He

spoke about hemp cultivation. He said that Inyo County has been giving conditional use permits



5

for Airbnb uses. He repowered that Adventure Trails requested that the State extend its pilot

program for five more years.

Board member Wentworth spoke about the “IKON effect.” He said people are comparing

Mammoth Mountain/the Eastern Sierra to other locations that also have IKON passes.

Board member Corless provided an update on the Mono County Civic Center project in

Mammoth Lakes. She said she has been participating in the State’s Forest Management

Taskforce Sierra Eastside Prioritization Group. She spoke about challenges with dealing with

forest management at the local level.

There was a discussion among the Board about Firesafe Councils.

Board member Salcido spoke about the tax appeals that are coming in for Ormat and MMSA.

16. Call for Agenda Items for Next Meeting

No specific items were identified.

17. Adjournment

The meeting ended at 10:50 a.m.



December 8, 2017 1

EASTERN SIERRA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

MINUTES

Friday –December 8, 2017
Bishop City Council Chambers –8:30 a.m.

301 West Line Street

Bishop, California

Eastern Sierra Council of Governments (ESCOG) Board Members
City of Bishop Councilmember Joe Pecsi
City of Bishop Councilmember Karen Schwartz – Chair
Inyo County Supervisor Jeff Griffiths
Inyo County Supervisor Mark Tillemans
Mono County Supervisor Stacy Corless
Mono County Supervisor Larry Johnston
Mono County Supervisor Bob Gardner – Alternate Board Member
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember Shields Richardson
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember John Wentworth – Vice Chair

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chair Schwartz called the meeting of the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments

to order at 8:34 a.m. in the Bishop City Council Chambers.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chair Schwartz.

3. ROLL CALL

Present: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Alternate Board

Member Gardner, Board Member Richardson, Vice Chair Wentworth, and Chair

Schwartz

Alternate Mono County Board Member Bob Gardner was present in Board

Member Johnston’s absence.

Absent: Board Member Johnston



December 8, 2017 2

4. PUBLIC COMMENT - NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC: This time is set aside to
receive public comment on matters not calendared on the agenda. When
recognized by the Chair, please state your name and address for the record and
please limit your comments to three minutes. Under California law the Eastern
Sierra Council of Governments Board is prohibited from generally discussing or
taking action on items not included in the agenda; however, the Eastern Sierra
Council of Governments Board may briefly respond to comments or questions
from members of the public. Therefore, the Eastern Sierra Council of
Governments Board will listen to all public comment but will not generally discuss
the matter or take action on it.

Public comments were made by:
Mammoth Lakes Tourism Executive Director John Urdi thanked everyone who
participated in the air service planning meeting held on December 7, 2017 which
is the beginning of several meetings to address the level of consistency and
reliability at both Mammoth Yosemite Airport and Bishop Airport.

No further public comments were made.

5. APPROVE ESCOG BOARD MEETING MINUTES FOR JUNE 16, 2017 – Board
consideration to approve the ESCOG Board Meeting Minutes for June 16, 2017.

No public comments were made.

Vice Chair Wentworth made a motion to approve the June 16, 2017 minutes as
presented. Board Member Corless seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0,
with 1 abstention.

Ayes: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Richardson, Vice
Chair Wentworth, Chair Schwartz
Noes: None
Abstain: Alternate Board Member Gardner
Absent: Board Member Johnston

6. ESCOG Joint Powers Authority (JPA) Ad Hoc Committee – Representatives from
each jurisdiction – Alternate Board Member Gardner, Board Members Griffiths,
Pecsi, and Vice Chair Wentworth.

The Board discussed reviewing the initial intent of the original ESCOG Joint
Powers Agreement with staff prior to moving forward with the approval of the
proposed ESCOG Joint Powers Authority agreement and taking any further
actions at this time. After further discussion, the Board came to a consensus and
agreed that the ESCOG JPA Ad Hoc Committee will arrange for a consultant to
facilitate a planning session with staff to re-address the intent of the original
ESCOG Joint Powers Agreement to better understand why we should look at
drawing up a new ESCOG Joint Powers Authority agreement.

Public comments were made by:
Steven Kalish, a resident of Swall Meadows, asked for clarification as to whether
the ESCOG JPA Ad Hoc Committee meetings as well as the Airport Ad Hoc



December 8, 2017 3

Committee meetings will be noticed publicly and minutes taken like other Brown
Act meetings. The ESCOG Board responded that if it is a standing committee
meeting, with or without a quorum of a governing board, it is subject to the Brown
Act. However, if it is an ad hoc committee set aside for one purpose that is
temporary in nature, it is not subject to the Brown Act. Mr. Kalish acknowledged
the Board’s response stating that he was not challenging the Board, but wanted
clarification. However, he stated that he would encourage the Board to make
these meetings public.

No further public comments were made.

A motion was made by Board Member Tillemans to approve the ESCOG Joint
Powers Authority (JPA) Ad Hoc Committee representatives from each
jurisdiction: Alternate Board Member Gardner, Board Member Griffiths, Vice
Chair Wentworth and Chair Schwartz. Alternate Board Member Gardner
seconded the motion. Motion passed 8-0.

Ayes: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Alternate Board
Member Gardner, Board Member Richardson, Vice Chair Wentworth, Chair
Schwartz
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Board Member Johnston

Mayor Schwartz reported that it is expected that the ESCOG JPA Ad Hoc
Committee will report back to the Board at their next meeting with their proposed
mission(s).

7. ESCOG MONO-INYO AIRPORT WORKING GROUP AD HOC COMMITTEE –
Representatives from each jurisdiction – Alternate Board Member Gardner,
Board Member Griffiths, Vice Chair Wentworth, and Chair Schwartz.

Mayor Schwartz reviewed this item with the Board and explained that this item
was placed on the ESCOG Board agenda since the motion taken at their October
20, 2017 meeting approved the Mammoth/Inyo Air Working Group Sub-
Committee representatives, not for the Mono-Inyo Airport Working Group Ad Hoc
Committee representatives. Therefore, the approval of the Mono-Inyo Airport
Working Group Ad Hoc Committee representatives is under consideration.

No public comments were made.

A motion was made by Board Member Griffiths to approve the ESCOG Mono-
Inyo Airport Working Group Ad Hoc Committee with representatives from each
jurisdiction: Alternate Board Member Gardner, Board Members Griffiths, Pesci,
and Vice Chair Wentworth. Alternate Board Member Gardner seconded the
motion. Motion passed 8-0.

Ayes: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Alternate Board
Member Gardner, Board Member Richardson, Vice Chair Wentworth, Chair
Schwartz
Noes: None



December 8, 2017 4

Abstain: None
Absent: Board Member Johnston

Mayor Schwartz reported that it is expected that the ESCOG Mono-Inyo Airport
Working Group Ad Hoc Committee will report back to the Board at their next
meeting with their proposed mission(s).

It was also announced and discussed that due to the high interest level on this
topic, the ESCOG Mono-Inyo Airport Working Group Ad Hoc Committee
meetings will be publicly noticed.

8. CANNABIS REGULATIONS (Discussion) – Continue discussions on regional
cannabis regulations – All Jurisdictions.

Board Member Tillemans recused himself from discussion on this item because
of a potential conflict of interest as advised by legal counsel. Board Member
Tillemans left the room at 9:05 a.m.

The Board continued discussions on regional cannabis regulations and continued
discussions on creating a matrix to track each jurisdictions progress on this and
other issues. No action was taken. No public comments were made.

Board Member Tillemans returned to the room at 9:07 a.m.

9. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (Discussion) – Reports from each jurisdiction after
meeting with administrators – All Jurisdictions.

Alternate Board Member Gardner reviewed this item with the Board and to follow
up on the analysis he shared with the Board at their October 20, 2017 meeting.
Discussion ensued on looking at the economic development demand for this
region.

Public comments were made by:
Mammoth Lakes Tourism Executive Director John Urdi spoke to their
relationships in working closely with not only Mono County but also in the past
five years with Bishop Area Chamber of Commerce and Visitors Bureau
Executive Director Tawni Thomson and Inyo County to promote this region. He
expressed that they have all worked very closely together to build their current
alliance with the National Park Service and to market this entire region as a
whole, from fishing, to driving up highway 395, to going to the national parks.

No further public comments were made.

In conclusion, the Board asked that this topic be brought back to their next
meeting and asked that City of Bishop Associate Planner Elaine Kabala be
present to share the her report on the economic development discussions they
had with Berkley Economic Development Office representative Liz Redmond-
Cleveland back in July 2017.

10. HOUSING (Discussion) – Continue discussions on the progress of housing
across the region – All Jurisdictions.



December 8, 2017 5

The Board continued discussions on the progress of housing across the region.
Vice Chair Wentworth reported that the Town of Mammoth Lakes accepted the
Mammoth Lakes Housing Action Plan and described their next steps; the Board
asked to place the discussion on the Sierra Business Council Sierra Camp on
their next meeting agenda; and Board Member Coreless announced that Mono
County Board of Supervisors accepted the Mono County Housing Needs
Assessment in November 2017 identifying 120-180 housing units needed in the
next ten years in Mono County. Board Member Corless said she would be happy
to forward the Mono County Housing Needs Assessment to staff for ESCOG
Board Members to view, and that she already forwarded a link to the Mammoth
Lakes Housing Action Plan to staff so that it can be forwarded to the ESCOG
Board to view as well. No action was taken. No public comments were made.

11. RECREATION – All Jurisdictions.

Vice Chair Wentworth reported on U.S. Forest Service activities, increased
recreation focus updates, and the new County of Mono / Town of Mammoth
Lakes joint position coming up for approval by the Mono County Board of
Supervisors and the Town of Mammoth Lakes Town Council. The Board asked
that this item be brought back for further discussion at their next meeting and to
further discuss Senate Bill 5 for trail maintenance and other opportunities in our
region.

12. REVIEW ESCOG PRIORITIES FOR 2018 – All Jurisdictions.

The Board asked that the following items be brought back to the next ESCOG
meeting as priorities for 2018: Air Service, Recreation, Technology, Housing,
Solid Waste, and Cannabis. The Board also mentioned that they should
continue to discuss all items that they have listed thus far in their past agendas to
be brought back to their future meetings as requested.

Board Member Corless announced that she would have to leave shortly. Chair
Schwartz asked to address Item 14 on the agenda next in order to have Board
Member Corless participate in the appointment of ESCOG officers for 2018. The
Board quickly came to a consensus to do so.

The Board addressed Item 14 below and back to Item 13 thereafter.

13. REVIEW AND APPROVE ESCOG MEETING SCHEDULE FOR 2018 – All
Jurisdictions.
A. Proposed ESCOG Meeting Schedule for 2018:

Friday, February 16 in Mammoth Lakes
Friday, April 20 in Bishop
Friday, June 15 in Mammoth Lakes
Friday, August 17 in Bishop
Friday, October 19 in Mammoth Lakes
Friday, December 14 in Bishop

The Board reviewed the proposed dates listed above. After a brief discussion, it
was agreed to keep the ESCOG meetings on a Friday beginning at 8:30 a.m.



December 8, 2017 6

The only changes to the list above is to schedule the meeting in April to
Thursday, April 19, 2018 at 8:30 am in Bishop, and the meeting in August to
Thursday, August 16, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. in Bishop.

Board Member Corless left the meeting at 10:27 a.m.

A motion was made by Vice Chair Griffiths to approve the following ESCOG
Meeting schedule for 2018 as follows:

Friday, February 16 in Mammoth Lakes
Thursday, April 19 in Bishop
Friday, June 15 in Mammoth Lakes
Thursday, August 16 in Bishop
Friday, October 19 in Mammoth Lakes
Friday, December 14 in Bishop

Board Member Pecsi seconded the motion. No public comments were made.
Motion passed 7-0.

Ayes: Board Members Pecsi, Schwartz, Tillemans, Richardson, Alternate Board
Member Gardner, Vice Chair Griffiths, and Chair Wentworth
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Board Member Johnston, Corless

14. CALL FOR AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT MEETING

The Board agreed to continue with their standing agenda items for 2018 as
discussed. A discussion ensued on whether or not the ESCOG Board would be
interested in including Alpine County in future ESCOG discussions. The Board
came to a consensus to discuss this further at their next meeting.

15. BOARD AND COMMITTEE REPORTS

Board Members reported on Council/Board meetings, other agency meetings,
and shared upcoming City/County projects.

16. ADJOURNMENT – TENTATIVE: Friday, February 16, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. Regular
Meeting in the Mammoth Lakes Town Council Chambers located at 437 Old
Mammoth Road, Suite Z, Mammoth Lakes, California.

Chair Wentworth adjourned the meeting at 10:51 a.m. to the ESCOG meeting
scheduled for Friday, February 16, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. in the Mammoth Lakes
Town Council Chambers.

______________________________
John Wentworth, Chair

Approved on: ________________________



October 20, 2017 1

EASTERN SIERRA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

MINUTES

Friday – October 20, 2017
Mammoth Lakes Town Council Chambers – 8:30 a.m.

437 Old Mammoth Road, Suite Z
Mammoth Lakes, California

Eastern Sierra Council of Governments (ESCOG) Board Members
City of Bishop Councilmember Joe Pecsi
City of Bishop Councilmember Karen Schwartz – Chair
Inyo County Supervisor Jeff Griffiths
Inyo County Supervisor Mark Tillemans
Mono County Supervisor Stacy Corless
Mono County Supervisor Larry Johnston
Mono-County Supervisor Bob Gardner – Alternate Board Member
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember Shields Richardson
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember John Wentworth – Vice Chair

1. CALL TO ORDER

Chair Schwartz called the meeting of the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments to
order at 8:45 a.m. in the Mammoth Lakes Town Council Chambers.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Board Member Griffiths.

3. ROLL CALL

Present: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Alternate Board
Member Gardner, Vice Chair Wentworth, and Chair Schwartz

Alternate Mono County Board Member Bob Gardner was present in Board Member
Johnston’s absence.

Absent: Board Members Johnston, Richardson



October 20, 2017 2

4. PUBLIC COMMENT - NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC: This time is set aside to receive
public comment on matters not calendared on the agenda. When recognized by the
Chair, please state your name and address for the record and please limit your
comments to three minutes. Under California law the Eastern Sierra Council of
Governments Board is prohibited from generally discussing or taking action on items
not included in the agenda; however, the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments
Board may briefly respond to comments or questions from members of the public.
Therefore, the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Board will listen to all public
comment but will not generally discuss the matter or take action on it.

No public comments were made.

5. INYO-MONO BROADBAND CONSORTIUM (IMBC) ADVISORY COUNCIL
UPDATES – IMBC Advisory Council Chair Ron Day and IMBC Advisory Council
Member Christie Osborne.

IMBC Advisory Council Chair Ron Day and IMBC Advisory Council Member Christie
Osborne made presentations updating the Board on IMBC Website Development
and Regional Branding Program. No public comments were made.

6. ESCOG Joint Powers Authority – All Jurisdictions.

Vice Chair Wentworth and Alternate Board Member Gardner reviewed this item with
the Board. After a discussion of ESCOG’s authority and identification of future
needs, the Board came to a consensus to appoint Chair Schwartz, Vice Chair
Wentworth, Alternate Board Member Gardner and Board Member Griffiths to further
research the formation of an Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Joint Powers
Authority. Vice-Chair Wentworth agreed to take the lead of this sub-committee.

Public comments were made by:
County of Mono County Administrative Officer Leslie Chapman spoke to her
concerns on 1. Lack of resources that the County of Mono has available to assist the
ESCOG currently and if it becomes a Joint Powers Authority; 2. Taking action from
two Mono County Board of Supervisors without approval from the entire Mono
County Board of Supervisors; and 3. Administration of ESCOG Joint Powers
Authority. Town of Mammoth Lakes Town Manager expressed similar concerns. No
further public comments were made.

7. RELIABLE REGIONAL AIR SERVICE – Town of Mammoth Lakes and County of
Inyo.

Vice Chair Wentworth and Board Member Tillemans reviewed this item with the
Board. No public comments were made.

After a discussion on the Mammoth/Inyo Air Working Group (MIAWG) Sub-
Committee and the need for a revision of the Air Service Sub-Committee
membership, Alternate Board Member Gardner made a motion to appoint Vice Chair
Wentworth and Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, and Alternate Board Member



October 20, 2017 3

Gardner to the Mammoth/Inyo Air Working Group Sub-Committee. Vice Chair
Wentworth seconded the motion. Motion passed 7-0.

Ayes: Board Members Pecsi, Griffiths, Tillemans, Corless, Alternate Board Member
Gardner, Vice Chair Wentworth, Chair Schwartz
Noes: None
Abstain: None
Absent: Board Members Johnston, Richardson

8. CANNABIS REGULATIONS (Discussion) – Continue discussions on regional
cannabis regulations – All Jurisdictions.

Board Member Tillemans recused himself from discussion on this item due to a
potential conflict of interest and left the room at 10:24 a.m.

The Board continued discussions on regional cannabis regulations. No action was
taken. No public comments were made.

At the conclusion of this topic’s discussions, Board Member Tillemans returned to
the room at approximately 10:35 a.m.

9. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (Discussion) – Review of Economic Development
spending across the region – County of Mono.

The Board continued discussions on regional economic development. Alternate
Board Member Gardner handed out a document he created called, “Analysis of
Eastern Sierra Economic Development Related Spending” which is based on the
available data found on-line in each of their respective agency’s (Bishop, Mammoth
Lakes Tourism, Mono County, and Inyo County) budgets and financial statements.
After further discussion, it was suggested that this preliminary data be shared with
each agency’s administrator for further input and to bring this item back to their next
scheduled meeting for further discussion and evaluation. No action was taken. No
public comments were made.

10.HOUSING (Discussion) – Continue discussions on the progress of housing across
the region – All Jurisdictions.

The Board continued discussions on the progress of housing across the region to
accommodate all levels of income and needs. No action was taken. No public
comments were made.

11.RECREATION – All Jurisdictions.

Vice Chair Wentworth reported to the Board on his recent meetings with the U.S.
Forest Service, increased focus on recreation, and an update on positions to be
shared and benefited by both the County of Mono and the Town of Mammoth Lakes.
No action was taken. No public comments were made.



October 20, 2017 4

12.CALL FOR AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT MEETING

The Board asked that the following items be brought to their next meeting.

 Review of priorities for 2018
 Appoint Chair and Vice Chair for 2018
 Continue economic development discussion after meeting with agency

administrators
 Continue discussions on housing and to review the Town of Mammoth Lakes

Housing Action Plan, to hear from the Sierra Business Council on their “Sierra
Camp,” review Mono County’s Housing Needs Assessment, and to create a
housing summary report for all jurisdictions.

 Continue discussions on recreation

13.ADJOURNMENT – Friday, December 8, 2017 at 8:30 a.m. Regular Meeting in the
Bishop City Council Chambers located at 301 West Line Street, Bishop, California.

Chair Schwartz adjourned the meeting at 11:11 a.m. to the ESCOG meeting
scheduled for Friday, December 8, 2017 at 8:30 a.m. in the Bishop City Council
Chambers.

______________________________
Karen Schwartz, Chair

Approved on: ________________________



August 11, 2017 1

EASTERN SIERRA COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

MINUTES

Friday –August 11, 2017

Bishop City Council Chambers –8:30 a.m.

301 West Line Street

Bishop, California

Eastern Sierra Council of Governments (ESCOG) Board Members
City of Bishop Councilmember Joe Pecsi
City of Bishop Councilmember Karen Schwartz – Chair
Inyo County Supervisor Jeff Griffiths
Inyo County Supervisor Mark Tillemans
Mono County Supervisor Stacy Corless
Mono County Supervisor Larry Johnston
Mono-County Supervisor Bob Gardner – Alternate Board Member
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember Shields Richardson
Town of Mammoth Lakes Councilmember John Wentworth – Vice Chair

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair Schwartz called the meeting of the Eastern Sierra Council of Governments
to order at 8:34 a.m. in the Bishop City Council Chambers.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Chair Schwartz.

3. ROLL CALL
Present: Board Member Pecsi, Alternate Board Member Gardner, Board
Member Richardson, and Chair Schwartz

Alternate Mono County Board Member Bob Gardner was present in Board
Member Johnston’s absence.

Board Member Corless joined the meeting at 8:37 a.m.

Absent: Board Members Griffiths, Tillemans, Johnston, and Vice Chair
Wentworth



August 11, 2017 2

4. PUBLIC COMMENT - NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC: This time is set aside to
receive public comment on matters not calendared on the agenda. When
recognized by the Chair, please state your name and address for the record and
please limit your comments to three minutes. Under California law the Eastern
Sierra Council of Governments Board is prohibited from generally discussing or
taking action on items not included in the agenda; however, the Eastern Sierra
Council of Governments Board may briefly respond to comments or questions
from members of the public. Therefore, the Eastern Sierra Council of
Governments Board will listen to all public comment but will not generally discuss
the matter or take action on it.

No public comments were made.

5. PRESENTATION - AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN BISHOP – Presented by City of
Bishop City Administrator Jim Tatum.

City of Bishop City Administrator Jim Tatum reviewed this item with the ESCOG
Board. After Mr. Tatum answered all of the Board member’s questions, the
Board briefly discussed the current work being done to address affordable
housing in Mammoth Lakes. The Town of Mammoth Lakes is working on a
housing plan which the Board would like to see added to a future meeting
agenda for discussion. Board Member Richardson also mentioned that Cerro
Coso College and Mammoth Hospital are also working on a housing
development in Mammoth.

No public comments were made.

6. APPROVE ESCOG MINUTES FOR JUNE 16, 2017 (Action) - Board
consideration to approve the ESCOG June 16, 2017 Minutes.

Chair Schwartz asked that this item be pulled at this time and be brought to the
next scheduled meeting in order to have a quorum of Board Members that were
present at that meeting to approve the June 16, 2017 minutes.

7. INYO-MONO BROADBAND CONSORTIUM ADVISORY COUNCIL UPDATE
(Discussion) – Presented by Mono County & Town of Mammoth Lakes
Information Technology Director/GIS Coordinator Nate Greenberg and Inyo-
Mono Broadband Consortium Advisory Council Chair Ron Day.

Inyo-Mono Broadband Consortium (IMBC) Advisory Council Chair Ron Day and
Information Technology Director/GIS Coordinator Nate Greenberg presented the
Board with an update on the work progress being made by the IMBC Advisory
Council. Mr. Day and Mr. Greenberg spoke to the development of IMBC
Advisory Council’s by-laws, as well as the IMBC’s website, interactive service
level map, and regional brand. Mr. Greenberg also brought up the fact that since
IMBC Advisory Council is in its infancy, and are making decisions on how to
proceed with the items they have been tasked to do, it is appropriate to ask the
ESCOG Board as to how they would like for the Advisory Council to proceed on
moving forward with items that are under their current scope of work. After a
brief discussion, the Board came to a consensus that the Advisory Council
should give an update to the ESCOG Board at their regularly scheduled



August 11, 2017 3

meetings in order to address any concerns the ESCOG Board may have on the
direction that the Advisory Council is taking action on to complete their scope of
work that the ESCOG Board has charged them with. After answering all of the
Board’s questions, the Board thanked Mr. Day, Mr. Greenberg, and the other
volunteer Advisory Council Members for attending.

No public comments were made.

8. REVIEW OF REGIONAL MARIJUANA POLICIES (Discussion) –
Continue discussions from each member agency on status and planning for
regulation of marijuana cultivation and sales.

Town of Mammoth Lakes Assistant Planner Nolan Bobroff presented the Board
with a review of the Town of Mammoth Lakes workshop on proposed cannabis
regulations held on August 9, 2017. The workshop allowed their Planning
Commission and the public to provide early input on the proposed Town of
Mammoth Lakes cannabis regulations. The proposed regulations included: 1.
Limits on the number of cannabis retailers, cultivators, and manufacturers; 2.
Limitations on the zones that cannabis commercial uses are permitted; 3. Buffers
from schools, day care centers, and youth centers; 4. Implementation of related
taxes and an annual cannabis permit renewal fee; 5. Prohibition of outdoor
cannabis grows; 6. Regulations pertaining to personal cannabis use; and 7.
Application and operational standards. Further discussions will be held at the
Town of Mammoth Lakes Planning Commission meeting in September.

County of Mono Assistant County Administative Officer Tony Dublino spoke to
cannabis regulations in Mono County. Mono County Planning Commission will
be discussing this topic at their next meeting scheduled for August 17, 2017 and
a workshop is scheduled with the Mono County Board of Supervisors on
September 19, 2017. It is understood that the County does not have the
opportunity to impose a tax until November 2018. However, they would like to
have their ordinance addressing cannabis regulation in place by November 2017
in order to have it effective by January 1, 2018. If Mono County fails to have an
ordinance in place, they will continue with the moratorium that is in place
currently.

Chair Schwartz announced that the City of Bishop just adopted their ordinance
(on July 24, 2017) entitled, “Medical Marijuana Dispensaries” and adding Title 17,
Chapter 79 entitled, “Marijuana Cultivation and Marijuana-Related Businesses”
which banned marijuana cultivation and businesses. The City does allow
deliveries within the city limits with a license to do so and a limit on the number of
medical marijuana plants allowed to be grown for personal use with restrictions.

County of Inyo County Administrative Officer Kevin Carunchio provided the
Board with a written statement on the status of Inyo County’s marijuana policies.
The written communication stated that, “Based on input garnered during 13
community outreach meetings earlier this year, discussion at Board of Supervisor
meetings, and guidance from the County’s consultant, HdL, the working group
(comprised of the Planning Director, Inyo-Mono Ag Commissioner, Public Works
Director, County Counsel, Assistant County Counsel, and the County
Administative Officer) is nearing completion of a draft land use ordinance. The



August 11, 2017 4

working group is scheduled to meet the week of August 28, 2017 to finalize its
internal working draft.” In summary, once the resulting comments have been
considered and incorporated, the draft ordinance(s) will be presented to the
Board of Supervisors for further discussion and input, along with a schedule for
additional community presentations and stakeholder engagement, before
initiating the codification process later this fall.

After further discussion, the Board came to a consensus to create a shared
matrix that outlines cannabis regulations set by each ESCOG member agency.
The Board agreed that this would be a great tool for each member agency to
view and help monitor and evaluate cannabis regulations in their region.

No public comments were made.

9. SHORT-TERM RENTAL ROBOTS (Discussion) – All Jurisdictions.

The Board discussed short-term rentals and Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT) in
their region. The City of Bishop shared their proposed ordinance addressing
short-term rental of residential property that will be under consideration to adopt
at their August 14, 2017 City Council meeting. After sharing what each member
agency is experiencing in each of their short-term rental markets, the Board
came to a consensus to create another shared matrix that outlines short-term
rental regulations and TOT rates set by each ESCOG member agency The
Board agreed that this tool would be very useful for each member agency to
continue to develop and evaluate short-term rental regulations and TOT rates in
their region.

The Board also discussed the use of “robots” (software) to address the regulation
of short-term rentals that are operating illegally and if use of such software would
be useful or not in each of their respective agencies.

No public comments were made.

10. UNMANNED AIRCRAFT (OR AERIAL) VEHICLE (UAV)/DRONE POLICIES IN
REGION (Discussion) - Inyo County.

Chair Schwartz asked that this item be pulled at this time and be brought to the
next scheduled meeting since there was no Inyo County representative present
to lead this discussion.

11. REGIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY CONVERSATIONS
UPDATE (Discussion) – Town of Mammoth Lakes.

Board Member Corless reported that an initial meeting facilitated by City of
Berkley Economic Development Office representative Liz Redmond-Cleveland to
discuss regional economic development was held in early July 2017. This
meeting included a representative from each member agency’s Board/Council
and staff members. The meeting resulted in a matrix outlining several economic
development topics. After further discussion, the Board came to a consensus to
continue these meetings on an ad-hoc basis with the same participants in order
to develop a list of regional economic development priorities and to carefully



August 11, 2017 5

appoint staff resources to address these priorities in an efficient, non-redundant,
manner going forward. No public comments were made.

12. CALL FOR AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT MEETING

City of Bishop Interim City Clerk Robin Picken reviewed the list of upcoming
agenda items for the Board’s review:

 A presentation on affordable housing from the Town of Mammoth Lakes
 Approve the ESCOG Board Minutes from June 16, 2017
 Inyo-Mono Broadband Consortium Advisory Council Update
 Unmanned aircraft (or aerial) vehicle (UAV)/drone policies in region
 Regional economic development with matrix
 Board Member Reports
 Economic development priority list
 Airport update
 Regional marijuana/cannabis policies with matrix (and invite local tribe

members to join future meetings on this topic)
 Short-term rental regulations with matrix
 Policy on attendance at future meetings
 Place approved matrices on the ESCOG website
 Discuss smoke from local fires in the Area and its effects to the region

It was agreed that Chair Schwartz and Board Member Corless will attend future
IMBC Advisory Council meetings. Staff will notify Inyo County representatives
that one of them is also invited to attend future IMBC Advisory Council meetings.

13. ADJOURNMENT – Friday, October 20, 2017 at 8:30 a.m. Regular Meeting in the
Mammoth Lakes Town Council Chambers located at 437 Old Mammoth Road,
Suite Z, Mammoth Lakes, California.

Chair Schwartz adjourned the meeting at 10:39 a.m. to the ESCOG meeting
scheduled for Friday, October 20, 2017 at 8:30 a.m. in the Mammoth Lakes
Town Council Chambers.

______________________________
Karen Schwartz, Chair

Approved on: ________________________



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1

THE FLAVOR TRAP
How Tobacco Companies Are  

Luring Kids with Candy-Flavored  
E-Cigarettes and Cigars

March 15, 2017



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3

INTRODUCTION. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

TRENDS IN YOUTH TOBACCO USE. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7

FLAVORED TOBACCO PRODUCTS ARE ON THE RISE. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

FLAVORED PRODUCTS ARE POPULAR  
AMONG KIDS AND YOUNG ADULTS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

FLAVORED PRODUCTS HAVE LONG BEEN USED TO ATTRACT KIDS. . . . . .20

FLAVORED TOBACCO PRODUCTS POSE SERIOUS HEALTH RISKS, 
INCLUDING ADDICTION, AND FLAVORS MAY POSE UNIQUE RISKS . . . . . 22 

FDA AND CONGRESS MUST PROTECT KIDS  
FROM FLAVORED TOBACCO PRODUCTS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

SOURCES. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .28



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

3

Executive Summary
A 2009 federal law, the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act, prohibited the sale 
of cigarettes with characterizing flavors other than menthol or tobacco, including candy and 
fruit flavors. However, this prohibition did not apply to other tobacco products. In recent years, 
tobacco companies have significantly stepped up the introduction and marketing of flavored non-
cigarette tobacco products, especially electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and cigars.

This report documents the widespread availability of these flavored other tobacco products and 
the scientific evidence demonstrating that flavors play a critical role in the popularity of these 
products among youth. These flavored products are undermining the nation’s overall efforts to 
reduce youth tobacco use and putting a new generation of kids at risk of nicotine addiction and 
the serious health harms that result from tobacco use. This report’s key findings include:

• In recent years, there has been an explosion of sweet-flavored tobacco products, 
especially e-cigarettes and cigars. These products are available in a wide assortment 
of flavors that seem like they belong in a candy store or ice cream parlor – like gummy 
bear, cotton candy, peanut butter cup, cookies ‘n cream and pop rocks for e-cigarettes and 
chocolate, wild berry, watermelon, lemonade and cherry dynamite for cigars. A 2014 study 
identified more than 7,700 unique e-cigarette flavors, with an average of more than 240 new 
flavors being added per month. Sales of flavored cigars have increased by nearly 50 percent 
since 2008, and flavored cigars made up more than half (52.1 percent) of the U.S. cigar 
market in 2015, according to Nielsen convenience store market scanner data. Further, the 
number of unique cigar flavor names more than doubled from 2008 to 2015, from 108 to 250. 

• These sweet products have fueled the popularity of e-cigarettes and cigars among youth. 
While there has been a steep drop in youth use of traditional cigarettes, overall youth use of 
any tobacco product has remained steady in recent years due to the popularity of tobacco 
products like cigars and e-cigarettes – products that are predominantly flavored. From 2011 
to 2015, current use of e-cigarettes among high school students increased more than ten-
fold – from 1.5 percent to 16 percent – according to the National Youth Tobacco Survey (while 
the 2016 Monitoring the Future survey shows the first evidence of a decline in youth use of 
e-cigarettes, it also shows that e-cigarettes continue to be the most popular tobacco products 
among kids). In addition, more high school boys now smoke cigars than cigarettes – 14 
percent vs. 11.8 percent. 

• Studies show that flavors play a major role in youth use of tobacco products such as 
e-cigarettes and cigars. A government study found that 81 percent of kids who have ever 
used tobacco products started with a flavored product, including 81 percent who have ever 
tried e-cigarettes and 65 percent who have ever tried cigars. Youth also cite flavors as a major 
reason for their current use of non-cigarette tobacco products, with 81.5 percent of youth 
e-cigarette users and 73.8 percent of youth cigar users saying they used the product “because 
they come in flavors I like.” 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

4

• Tobacco companies have a long history of developing and marketing flavored tobacco 
products as “starter” products that attract kids. Flavors improve the taste and reduce the 
harshness of tobacco products, making them more appealing and easier for beginners – 
often kids – to try the product and ultimately become addicted. Since most tobacco users 
start before age 18, flavored tobacco products play a critical role in the industry’s marketing 
playbook. Flavors can also create the impression that a product is less harmful than it really is. 

• Strong FDA regulation is needed to protect kids from flavored tobacco products. After 
years of delay, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2016 issued new rules for 
previously unregulated tobacco products, including e-cigarettes and cigars. Despite the strong 
evidence that flavored tobacco products are attracting and addicting a new generation of 
kids, legislation has been introduced in Congress that would greatly weaken FDA oversight of 
e-cigarettes and cigars, including the many candy-flavored products on the market. Congress 
should reject these proposals. In fact, the FDA should strengthen its rules by prohibiting all 
flavored tobacco products. 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

5

Cigarettes with characterizing flavors other than menthol and tobacco were prohibited 

in the United States on September 22, 2009, as part of the Family Smoking Prevention 

and Tobacco Control Act (Tobacco Control Act), which gave the FDA authority over tobacco 

products.1 Prior to 2009, tobacco companies marketed cigarettes with candy and fruit 

flavors, images and names that appealed to a young audience.

Introduction

However, the prohibition on characterizing flavors did not apply 
to other tobacco products. In recent years, tobacco companies 
have significantly stepped up the introduction and marketing of 
flavored non-cigarette tobacco products, especially e-cigarettes 
and cigars (i.e., large cigars, small cigars and cigarillos). These 
products are widely available through convenience stores, other 
retail outlets and online retailers. 

As this report documents, these flavored tobacco products are 
popular with kids, and the scientific evidence demonstrates that 
flavors play a major role in youth initiation and continued use 
of these products. The recent proliferation of flavored tobacco 
products also continues tobacco companies’ long history of 
developing and marketing flavored products as “starter” products 
that attract kids.



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

6

These flavored products are undermining the nation’s overall efforts to reduce youth tobacco use 
and putting a new generation of kids at risk of nicotine addiction and the serious health harms 
that result from tobacco use.

Flavored tobacco products contain nicotine, the highly addictive chemical that makes it so easy 
to get hooked on tobacco products and so hard to quit. The 2016 U.S. Surgeon General’s Report, 
E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and Young Adults, warned that youth use of products containing 
nicotine in any form is unsafe, can cause addiction and can harm the developing adolescent brain, 
disrupting attention and learning. The U.S. Surgeon General’s Report also concluded, “E-cigarette 
use is strongly associated with the use of other tobacco products among youth and young adults, 
including combustible tobacco products.” The report further found that e-cigarette aerosol is not 
harmless and can contain harmful and potentially harmful constituents, including nicotine.2 

Cigar smoking also poses serious health risks. According to the National Cancer Institute, cigar 
smoking causes cancer of the oral cavity, larynx, esophagus and lung, and cigar smokers are also 
at increased risk for aortic aneurysms. Daily cigar smokers, particularly those who inhale, have an 
increased risk of heart disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).3 

Given the health risks of these products and the role of flavors in promoting their use among 
youth, addressing the impact of flavored tobacco products must be a public health priority.



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

7

Since 1997, current (past-month) cigarette use among high school students has declined by 70 
percent, from 36.4 percent to a record-low 10.8 percent in 2015, according to the Youth Risk 
Behavior Survey (YRBS) conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).4  
However, the popularity of other tobacco products threatens to undermine progress in reducing 
overall youth tobacco use. The 2015 YRBS found that 31.4 percent of high school students 
reported using some form of tobacco in the past month, including cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, 
cigars or e-cigarettes. Another government survey, the National Youth Tobacco Survey (NYTS), 
found there was no significant decline in overall tobacco use from 2011-2015, with an estimated 
4.7 million middle and high school students who were current tobacco users in 2015.5 

E-cigarettes, first introduced to the U.S. marketplace in 2006-2007, have skyrocketed in popularity 
among kids, contributing to this stall in reducing overall tobacco use. From 2011-2015, past-
month e-cigarette use increased more than ten-fold among high school students, from 1.5 
percent to 16 percent, according to the NYTS, which has tracked youth e-cigarette use the longest 
of any survey.6 Recent data from another national survey, the 2016 Monitoring the Future survey, 
show the first evidence of a decline in youth use of e-cigarettes, but prevalence of e-cigarette 
use continues to exceed that of all other tobacco products.7 In at least 43 states, e-cigarette 
use among high school students exceeds cigarette smoking.8 Data from the 2015 NYT show 
that 13.1 percent of high school students who have never used another tobacco product have 
tried e-cigarettes.9 Earlier data from the NYTS show that the number of youth who had used 
e-cigarettes, but had never smoked a regular cigarette, increased from 79,000 in 2011 to more 
than 263,000 in 2013.10 

Trends in Youth Tobacco Use



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

8

While overall cigar use has been declining in recent years, cigars remain popular among youth, 
particularly high school boys. While 11.8 percent of high school boys smoke cigarettes, 14 percent 
are current cigar smokers.11 In at least 33 states, prevalence of cigar use equals or surpasses use 
of cigarettes among high school boys.12 

The scientific evidence indicates these trends are linked to the growing market of flavored 
tobacco products.

Source: CDC 2015 Youth Risk Behavior Survey

MORE HIGH SCHOOL BOYS SMOKE CIGARS THAN CIGARETTES (2015)

HIGH SCHOOL E-CIGARETTE USE 2011-2015

Source: CDC N
ational Youth Tobacco Survey

18%

16%

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

1.5%
2.8%

4.5%

13.4%

16.0%

10X INCREASE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

9

Despite the FDA’s ban on flavored cigarettes, the overall market for flavored tobacco products 
is growing. Continuing a long tradition of designing products that appeal explicitly to new 
users, tobacco companies in recent years have significantly stepped up the introduction and 
marketing of flavored other tobacco products (OTPs), particularly e-cigarettes and cigars, as 
well as smokeless tobacco and hookah (water pipes). Although tobacco companies claim to be 
responding to adult tobacco users’ demand for variety, flavored tobacco products play a key role 
in enticing new users, particularly kids, to a lifetime of addiction. This growing market for flavored 
tobacco products is undermining the nation’s overall progress in reducing youth tobacco use.

Tobacco companies market products in many kid-friendly flavors such as gummy bear, berry 
blend, chocolate, peach, cotton candy, strawberry and grape. A 2013 survey of internet tobacco 
retailers found that more than 40 percent of cigarette-sized cigars, machine-made cigars, moist 
snuff smokeless tobacco and dry snuff smokeless tobacco were flavored, including fruit, sweet 
and mint/menthol.13 An article in Convenience Store News stated that “flavored tobacco is 
offering a bright spot in the category,” referring to the increased tobacco sales – and number of 
consumers – in stores that sell such products.14 

Here’s a look at the growing marketplace of flavored tobacco products: 

Flavored Tobacco Products 
Are on the Rise



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 0

CIGARS
Historically, cigar manufacturers designed flavored cigars to serve as “starter” smokes for youth 
and young adults because the flavorings helped mask the harshness, making the products easier 
to smoke.15 Recently, there has been an explosion of cheap, flavored cigars. Despite a 10 percent 
decline between 2014 and 2015, sales of all cigars (i.e., large cigars, cigarillos and small cigars) 
doubled between 2000 and 2015, from 6.1 billion cigars to 12.3 billion cigars, and sales have been 
generally increasing at a time when cigarette sales have been slowly declining.16 

Much of the growth in cigar sales can be attributed to smaller types of cigars, many of them 
flavored. An industry publication stated, “While different cigars target a variety of markets, all 
flavored tobacco products tend to appeal primarily to younger consumers.”17 These products are 
often colorfully packaged and much cheaper than cigarettes; for instance, cigarillos can be priced 
as low as 3 or 4 for 99 cents, making them even more appealing to price-sensitive youth.

• There has been explosive growth in flavor options for cigars, such as candy, fruit, chocolate 
and various other kid-attracting tastes. The vice president of one distributor commented, “For 
a while it felt as if we were operating a Baskin-Robbins ice cream store” in reference to the 
huge variety of cigar flavors available – and, no doubt, an allusion to flavors that appeal to kids.18  

• Flavored cigars have made a substantial contribution to the overall growth of the cigar 
market. 2015 Nielsen convenience store market scanner data show that sales of flavored 
cigars increased by nearly 50 percent since 2008. As a proportion of all cigar sales, the share 
of flavored cigars rose from 43.6 percent to 52.1 percent in 2015. Among flavored cigars sold 
in 2015, the most popular flavors were fruit (38.8 percent), sweet or candy (21.2 percent), 
and wine (17.0 percent). Further, the number of unique cigar flavor names more than 
doubled from 2008 to 2015, from 108 to 250.19  



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 1

• The top five most popular cigar brands among 12- to 17-year olds who have 
used cigars – Black & Mild, Swisher Sweets, Al Capone, White Owl and Dutch 
Masters – all come in flavor varieties.20 For example, Black & Mild cigars come 
in flavors such as apple, cherry vanilla and cherry; Swisher Sweets comes 
in a huge variety of flavors such as grape, chocolate, strawberry, peach and 
“sticky sweets”; and White Owl has flavors such as mango, peach and “very 
berry.” Altria, the nation’s largest tobacco manufacturer and parent company 
of Philip Morris USA, expanded its business to the cigar category in 2007 by 
acquiring John Middleton, Inc., which sells Black & Mild. 

• The cigar industry acknowledges that flavors attract new users. The vice 
president of marketing for the international division of Swedish Match, 
which sells White Owl cigars and Game cigars in the U.S., stated, “It is mainly 
new recruits to cigar smoking who take to the new flavors, while long-time 
consumers still prefer the more traditional cigars.”21 Industry insiders also 
recognize the use of flavors for the uninitiated. The luxury lifestyle magazine, 
Cigar Aficionado, stated in an article, “More likely, flavored cigars serve as a 
bridge to premium cigars for the uninitiated, something to be smoked as an 
entryway into the world of cigar smoking. For the novice, a simple, sweet and 
easily identifiable flavor (honey or cherry, for example) is an easier step than 
moving into a box marked Cuban-seed Corojo.”22  

• Nielsen convenience store market scanner data also show an increasing 
number of “other” options have emerged in the past few years, using names 
that do not explicitly identify a flavor, such as Swisher’s “Wild Rush” and 
Altria’s “Jazz,” even though they are flavored. This could be an attempt by 
cigar manufacturers to circumvent local sales restrictions on characterizing 
flavors, which rely on definitions that describe flavors.23 

Since the Tobacco Control Act prohibited flavored cigarettes in 2009, cigarette 
makers have manipulated their products to qualify as “little” or “filtered” cigars.24 
For instance, the 2012 Surgeon General’s report, Preventing Tobacco Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults, noted that flavored cigarettes such as Sweet Dreams 
re-emerged as Sweet Dreams flavored cigars after the federal restriction on 
flavored cigarettes went into effect.25 In October 2009, U.S. Representatives 
Henry Waxman and Bart Stupak sent letters to two flavored cigarette companies, 
Cheyenne International and Kretek International, that began making little cigars 
shortly after the federal flavored cigarette ban went into effect.26 Rep. Waxman discovered 
that Kretek International intentionally changed its cigarettes to cigars to exploit a loophole in 
the Tobacco Control Act.27 In December 2016, the FDA issued warning letters to four tobacco 
manufacturers – Swisher International, Inc., Cheyenne International LLC, Prime Time International 
Co. and Southern Cross Tobacco Company Inc. – for marketing and selling fruit-flavored cigarettes 
labeled as cigars, in violation of the Tobacco Control Act.28 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 2

ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES
Although these products are relatively new to the market, the variety of flavors available for 
use in e-cigarettes has grown exponentially. E-cigarette marketing employs many of the same 
strategies used for years by cigarette manufacturers that proved so effective in reaching kids, 
such as celebrity endorsements, slick TV and magazine advertisements, and sports and music 
sponsorships. Another strategy has been the widespread marketing of e-cigarettes and nicotine 
“e-juice” with a wild assortment of candy, fruit and other flavors. 

• As of January 2014, researchers had identified more than 7,700 unique e-cigarette flavors 
available online, with an average of more than 240 new flavors being added per month.29 
Among more than 400 available brands, 84 percent offered fruit flavors and 80 percent 
offered candy and dessert flavors.30  

• In addition to the more traditional candy and fruit flavors like cherry and chocolate, the liquid 
nicotine solutions are also being sold in such kid-friendly options as cotton candy, gummy 
bear, root beer float and banana split. One study even uncovered over twenty different types 
of unicorn-flavored e-liquid, often paired with cartoon imagery, undoubtedly appealing to kids.31  



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 3

• The top three cigarette manufacturers now sell e-cigarettes in a variety of 
flavors other than tobacco. Altria’s MarkTen brand e-cigarettes come in 
Fusion, Menthol and Winter Mint varieties.32 Reynolds American’s Vuse 
product comes in flavors such as Melon, Nectar, Berry, Mint and Chai, while 
ITG Brand’s blu e-cigarette features such flavors as Berry Cobbler, Blueberry, 
Cherry Crush, Strawberry Mint, Vivid Vanilla and Pina Colada.33  

• “Vape shops,” which are specialty e-cigarette retail stores, offer an even 
wider assortment of flavors. In addition to the pre-made options, these 
stores allow patrons to mix their own preferred flavor combinations. 34 

The use of flavors in e-cigarette products is of even greater concern because 
e-cigarettes are the subject of extensive advertising campaigns, and there is 
evidence that young people are exposed to significant amounts of e-cigarette 
advertising. In 2012, e-cigarette companies began airing media campaigns on 
television. One study found that exposure of youth aged 12-17 to television 
e-cigarette advertising increased 256 percent from 2011 to 2013 and that 
e-cigarette companies advertise their products to a broad audience that includes 
24 million youth.35 Ads for the blu brand (then owned by Lorillard) accounted for 81 percent of 
the youth exposure.36 The 2014 Youth Tobacco Survey found that nearly seven in ten middle and 
high school students were exposed to e-cigarette advertising in 2014.37 

SMOKELESS TOBACCO
The variety of flavored smokeless tobacco products has grown over time and continues to grow.

• U.S. Smokeless Tobacco Company (UST, owned by Altria) increased the number of its sub-
brands – including flavored products – by 140 percent from 2000 to 2006 in order to “cast a 
wide net” and appeal to as many potential users as possible.38 In 2011, more than 80 percent 
of Skoal smokeless tobacco sold in convenience 
stores was flavored and more than one out of five 
(21.1 percent) were fruit-flavored, including vanilla, 
apple and berry blend.39 Skoal is the third most 
popular brand among smokeless tobacco users ages 
12-17.40  

• Between 2005 and 2011, sales of moist snuff increased 
by more than two-thirds; increases in the sale of 
flavored moist snuff accounted for about 60 percent 
of this growth.41 In 2012, flavored products made up 
more than half (58 percent) of all smokeless tobacco 
sales. Menthol and mint flavors are most popular, 
followed by fruit flavors.42  



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 4

• A trade publication for convenience stores quoted one retailer stating, “In the case of smokeless 
tobacco, you get a new flavor once every quarter.”43 

HOOKAH
Hookahs originate from Middle Eastern countries, but their use has 
rapidly increased in the U.S. The tobacco used in hookah often has 
flavorings or sweeteners added to enhance the taste and aroma. In the 
U.S., even more kid-friendly flavors are available, such as watermelon, 
tropical fruit, orange cream, caramel, chocolate, tutti frutti, vanilla and 
strawberry.44 

CIGARETTES
Menthol cigarettes, the only remaining flavored cigarette, maintain 
a significant market share. While overall cigarette sales have been 
declining, the proportion of smokers using menthol cigarettes has 
been increasing.45 

• Data from the Federal Trade Commission show that in 2014 
(the most recent year for which data are available), menthol 
cigarettes comprised 30 percent of the market.46  

• Before cigarettes with specific characterizing flavors were 
prohibited by the Tobacco Control Act, R.J. Reynolds’ “Camel 
Exotic Blends” came in flavors such as Twista Lime, Kauai 
Kolada, Warm Winter Toffee and Winter Mocha Mint, among 
others. Bright, colorful and alluring ads for these cigarettes 
appeared in magazines popular with kids, including Rolling Stone, 
Cosmopolitan and Sports Illustrated. 

• Using data from the 1999-2013 Youth Tobacco Surveys, a 2017 
study analyzed the impact of the 2009 ban on characterizing 
flavors in cigarettes on youth tobacco use. The researchers found 
that cigarette use declined significantly after the ban, whereas 
cigar and pipe tobacco use significantly increased. Further, use 
of menthol cigarettes, the only remaining flavored cigarettes, 
increased significantly after the ban.47 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 5

Research shows that no matter what the tobacco product, flavors appeal to youth and young 
adults. Data from the government’s 2013-2014 Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health 
(PATH) study found that 80.8 percent of 12-17 year olds who had ever used a tobacco product 
initiated tobacco use with a flavored product and 79.8 percent of current tobacco users had used 
a flavored tobacco product in the past month.48  Moreover, for each tobacco product, at least 
two-thirds of youth report using these products “because they come in flavors I like.” 49

Additional national data from the 2014 NYTS found that 70 percent of current middle and high 
school tobacco users – a total of over 3.2 million youth (12 percent of all youth) – had used a 
flavored tobacco product in the past month.50 Another national study found that 18.5 percent 
of young adult tobacco users (18-34 years old) currently use a flavored tobacco product, with 
younger age being a predictor of flavored tobacco product use. In fact, the study found that those 
aged 18-24 years old had an 89 percent increased chance of using a flavored tobacco product 
compared to those aged 25-34 years old.51 

According to the 2012 Surgeon General Report, “Much of the growing popularity of small cigars 
and smokeless tobacco is among younger adult consumers (aged <30 years) and appears to be 
linked to the marketing of flavored tobacco products that, like cigarettes, might be expected to be 
attractive to youth.”52 The 2016 Surgeon General Report on e-cigarettes concluded that flavors 
are among the most commonly cited reasons for using e-cigarettes among youth and young 
adults.53 

Flavored Products Are Popular 
Among Kids and Young Adults

Source: Journal of the Am
erican M

edical Association (2015)



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 6

CIGARS 
More than 2,100 children under age 18 try cigar smoking for the first time every 
day.54 Teens and young adults are much more likely than adults 25 years and 
older to report smoking cigars.55 Research demonstrates that flavored cigars 
are driving much of this usage and not surprisingly, flavored cigars are the most 
popular among youth. Cheap, sweet cigars can serve as an entry product for kids 
to a lifetime of smoking.

• The 2013-2014 PATH study found that 65.4 percent of 12-17 year olds who 
had ever smoked cigars smoked a flavored cigar the first time they tried 
the product, and 71.7 percent of current cigar smokers had used a flavored 
product in the last month.56 Additionally, 73.8 percent of current youth cigar 
smokers said they smoked cigars “because they come in flavors I like.”57  

• The 2014 NYTS found that 63.5 percent of middle and high school cigar 
smokers – a total of 910,000 youth – had smoked a flavored cigar in the past 
month.58  

• Data from the 2013-2014 National Adult Tobacco Survey indicate that use of 
flavored cigars decreases with age. Flavored cigar use among cigar smokers 
was 48.3 percent among 18-24 year olds, 41.0 percent among 25-29 year 
olds, 37.1 percent among 30-44 year olds, 28.8 percent among 45-64 year 
olds and 17.8 percent among those ages 65 and older.59  

• Youth and young adults prefer brands that come in a variety of flavors, and 
that preference declines significantly with age. In one national study, 95 
percent of 12-17-year-old cigar smokers reported a usual brand that makes 
flavored cigars compared with 63 percent of cigar smokers aged 35 and older. 60 

 

ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES 
Given the dramatic growth in the availability and marketing of flavored 
e-cigarettes, it’s no surprise that e-cigarette use among high school students 
increased more than ten-fold from 2011 to 2015.61 E-cigarettes are now the 
most commonly used tobacco products among youth, surpassing conventional 
cigarettes; more than 3 million middle and high school students were current 
e-cigarette users in 2015.62 

One tobacco company has acknowledged that youth are attracted to sweet-
flavored e-cigarettes. Lorillard Inc.’s Youth Smoking Prevention Program posted 
a page on e-cigarettes on its “Real Parents Real Questions” website that stated: 
“Kids may be particularly vulnerable to trying e-cigarettes due to an abundance 
of fun flavors such as cherry, vanilla, piña-colada and berry.”63 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 7

• The 2013-2014 PATH study found that 81 percent of 12-17 
year olds who had ever smoked an e-cigarette used a flavored 
e-cigarette the first time they tried the product, and 85.3 percent 
of current users used a flavored product in the last month. 
Additionally, 81.5 percent of current youth e-cigarette users said 
they used e-cigarettes “because they come in flavors I like.”64  

• The 2015 NYTS found that 44.6 percent of middle and high 
school e-cigarette users – totaling 1.26 million youth – had 
used a flavored e-cigarette in the past month.65  

• The 2013-2014 National Adult Tobacco Survey found that use 
of flavored e-cigarettes was highest among young adults (ages 
18-24), compared to those over age 25, and that flavored 
e-cigarettes were most popular among adults who were never 
cigarette smokers.66  

• A national phone survey found that youth (ages 13-17) were 
more likely to report interest in trying an e-cigarette offered 
by a friend if it were flavored like fruit, candy or menthol, 
compared to tobacco. This study also found that youth 
believed that fruit-flavored e-cigarettes were less harmful than 
tobacco-flavored e-cigarettes.67  

• Another study found that compared to college students, high 
school students were more likely to report experimenting with 
e-cigarettes because of appealing flavors (47 percent vs. 33 
percent).68 

SMOKELESS TOBACCO
As with cigarettes, characterizing flavors in other tobacco products 
(OTPs) mask the tobacco flavor and can make the products 
appealing to youth. Smokeless (or spit) tobacco companies, 
particularly UST, have a long history of creating new products that 
appeal to kids and marketing them aggressively to children to “graduate” them to more potent 
smokeless tobacco varieties.69 
 
• The 2013-2014 PATH study found that 68.9 percent of 12-17 year olds who had ever used 

smokeless tobacco used flavored smokeless tobacco the first time they tried the product, and 
81 percent of current smokeless tobacco users had used a flavored product in the last month.70  

• The 2014 NYTS found that 58.8 percent of middle and high school smokeless tobacco users – 
a total of nearly 700,000 youth – had used flavored smokeless tobacco in the past month.71 

“Kids may be 

particularly vulnerable 

to trying e-cigarettes 

due to an abundance 

of fun flavors such 

as cherry, vanilla, 

piña-colada and berry.” 

— Lorillard Inc.’s Youth 

Smoking Prevention 

Program, 2014



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 8

 
HOOKAH 
�esearch shows that many youth and young adults perceive hookah to be safer than other 
combustible tobacco products.72 However, according to the CDC, using a hookah to smoke 
tobacco poses serious health risks to smokers and others exposed to the smoke from the 
hookah.73 Because the flavors and the smoking technique create a more soothing (“smooth”) 
experience, hookah smokers can inhale more deeply and spend more time in a “hookah session,” 
which typically lasts for 40 to 45 minutes (three to four times longer than it typically takes to 
smoke a cigarette). While a typical cigarette requires about 20 puffs,74 an hour-long hookah 
session may involve 100 to 200 puffs , potentially exposing the user to more smoke over a greater 
period of time than what occurs when smoking a regular cigarette.75 The appeal of flavored 
hookah undoubtedly contributes to its popularity among youth and young adults.

• The 2013-2014 PATH study found that 88.7 percent of 12-17 year olds who had ever smoked 
hookah used flavored hookah the first time they tried the product, and 89 percent of current 
hookah users had used a flavored product in the last month.76  

• According to the PATH study, use of flavored tobacco is highest for users of hookah than for 
any other tobacco product, and more than three-quarters (78.9 percent) of youth hookah 
users reported that they use hookah “because they come in flavors I like.”77  

• The 2014 NYTS found that 60.6 percent of middle and high school hookah users – a total of 
over 1 million youth – had used flavored hookah in the past month.78 

CIGARETTES 
As the only flavored cigarette left on the market, it is no surprise that menthol cigarettes are 
popular among youth. Menthol cools and numbs the throat, reducing 
the harshness of cigarette smoke, thereby making menthol cigarettes 
more appealing to youth who are initiating tobacco use.79  

• Over half (54 percent) of youth smokers ages 12-17 use menthol 
cigarettes compared to nearly one-third (32 percent) of older adult 
smokers.80 Prevalence of menthol use is even higher among African 
Americans: 85 percent of all African-American smokers smoke 
menthol cigarettes and seven out of ten African-American youth 
smokers smoke menthol cigarettes.81  

• The popularity of menthol flavored cigarettes is also evidenced by 
brand preference among youth. According to data from the 2014 
National Survey on Drug Use and Health, one in five smokers ages 
12-17 prefers Newport cigarettes, a heavily marketed menthol 
cigarette brand. Preference for Newport is even higher among 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

1 9

African-American youth smokers (64.3 percent) because of targeted marketing by the tobacco 
industry. 

• Daily menthol cigarette smokers have higher odds of also using flavored little cigars/cigarillos 
compared to occasional non-menthol smokers.83  

According to FDA’s Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory Committee:84  

• Menthol cigarettes increase the number of children who experiment with cigarettes and the 
number of children who become regular smokers, increasing overall youth smoking. 

• Young people who initiate using menthol cigarettes are more likely to become addicted and 
become long-term daily smokers.  

• The availability of menthol cigarettes reduces smoking cessation, especially among African 
Americans, and increases the overall prevalence of smoking among African Americans.  

FDA’s own scientific analysis concluded that menthol cigarettes lead to increased smoking 
initiation among youth and young adults, greater addiction and decreased success in quitting 
smoking.85 

Although they are no longer on the market, older studies on flavored cigarettes other than 
menthol are still relevant to reinforce the general appeal of flavors to youth and young adults. 
When they were available, flavored cigarettes were being tried and used primarily by the 
young.86 Candy-flavored cigarettes clearly had their greatest appeal to new smokers, 90 percent 
of whom were teens or younger. Research indicated that youth and young adults were more 
likely to notice flavored tobacco products and their ads, and this awareness translated into higher 
use rates among young smokers. 

• Older adolescents and young adults aged 17 to 19 were more than twice as likely to report 
using flavored cigarettes (specifically Camel Exotic blends, Kool Smooth Fusion or Salem Silver 
Label brands) in the past 30 days compared to those 22 years or older.87  

• A significant gradient in flavored cigarette use was seen across age, with the highest rates of 
use among 17-year-old smokers (22.8 percent) and 18-19-year-old smokers (21.7 percent). 
Just nine percent of 24-26 year olds reported flavored cigarette use.88 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 0

The tobacco companies know that almost all new tobacco users begin their addiction as kids, but 
they also know that to novice smokers, tobacco can be harsh and unappealing. Internal tobacco 
industry documents show that tobacco companies have a long history of using flavors to reduce 
the harshness of their products to make them more appealing to new users, almost all of whom 
are under age 18.89  By masking the harshness and soothing the irritation caused by tobacco 
smoke, flavors make it easier for beginners – primarily kids – to try the product and ultimately 
become addicted. As early as the 1970s, the tobacco companies were discussing the “benefits” of 
sweet flavors. Their internal documents and public statements show that the tobacco industry’s 
use of sweet flavors goes beyond just encouraging current smokers to switch brands, but rather 
to attract new users, mostly kids.

• As early as 1972, advisors to Brown & Williamson reviewed new concepts for a “youth 
cigarette,” including cola and apple flavors, and a “sweet flavor cigarette,” stating, “It’s a well-
known fact that teenagers like sweet products. Honey might be considered.”90  

• A 1974 summary of an RJR meeting discussed cigarettes designed for beginning smokers, 
noting that such a cigarette should be “low in irritation and possibly contain added flavors to 
make it easier for those who never smoked before to acquire the taste of it more quickly.”91  

Flavored Products Have Long 
Been Used to Attract Kids



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 1

• An RJR interoffice memo revealed ideas for new 
products: “Make a cigarette which is obviously 
youth oriented. This could involve cigarette name, 
blend, flavor and marketing technique ... for 
example, a flavor which would be candy-like but 
give the satisfaction of a cigarette.”92  

• A Lorillard report summarizing the test results from 
new cigarette flavors included smokers’ description 
of “Tutti Frutti” flavored cigarettes as “for younger 
people, beginner cigarette smokers, teenagers…
when you feel like a light smoke, want to be 
reminded of bubblegum.”93  

• U.S. Tobacco, noticing declines in smokeless 
tobacco use in the 1980s, instituted a “graduation 
strategy,” developing mint- and cherry-flavored 
smokeless products with lower nicotine content as 
a way to attract new users.94  

• A former UST sales representative revealed that 
“Cherry Skoal is for somebody who likes the taste of 
candy, if you know what I’m saying.”95 

With their colorful packaging and sweet flavors, today’s 
flavored tobacco products are often hard to distinguish 
from the candy displays near which they are frequently 
placed in retail outlets. In fact, the same flavor chemicals 
used in sweet-flavored cigars and smokeless tobacco 
products are also used in popular candy and drink products such as LifeSavers, Jolly Ranchers 
and Kool-Aid.96 Flavors are not just a critical part of the product design, but are a key marketing 
ploy for the industry. The 2016 Surgeon General Report on e-cigarettes concluded, “E-cigarettes 
are marketed by promoting flavors and using a wide variety of media channels and approaches 
that have been used in the past for marketing conventional tobacco products to youth and 
young adults.” 97 

“Cherry Skoal is for somebody 

who likes the taste of candy, if 

you know what I’m saying.” 

— Former UST sales 

representative, 1994



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 2

Flavored Tobacco Products 
Pose Serious Health Risks, 
Including Addiction, and 
Flavors May Pose Unique Risks

Flavored tobacco products contain nicotine, the highly addictive chemical that makes it so easy 
to get hooked on tobacco products and so hard to quit. The 2016 Surgeon General’s report 
on e-cigarettes warned that youth use of products containing nicotine in any form is unsafe, 
can cause addiction and can harm the developing adolescent brain, disrupting attention and 
learning.98  Here is a summary of other health risks posed by cigars and e-cigarettes, including 
the flavored versions of these products.

HEALTH HARMS FROM CIGAR SMOKE 
Cigar smoke is composed of the same toxic and carcinogenic constituents found in cigarette 
smoke.99 According to the National Cancer Institute, smoking cigars causes serious health 
consequences, including cancer of the oral cavity, larynx, esophagus and lung, and cigar smokers 
are also at increased risk for aortic aneurysms.100 Daily cigar smokers, particularly those who 
inhale, have an increased risk of heart disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
(COPD). Each year, about 9,000 Americans die prematurely from regular cigar use.101 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 3

HEALTH HARMS FROM NICOTINE AND OTHER E-CIGARETTE 
CONSTITUENTS
E-cigarettes and refill liquids contain widely varying levels 
of nicotine. Nicotine is a highly addictive drug that can have 
lasting damaging effects on adolescent brain development 
and has been linked to a variety of adverse health outcomes 
for the developing fetus.102 The 2016 Surgeon General’s 
report also concluded, “E-cigarette use is strongly associated 
with the use of other tobacco products among youth and 
young adults, including combustible tobacco products.”103 

Exposure to liquid nicotine also carries a poisoning risk. 
Delivered in high doses, nicotine can be lethal. The Surgeon 
General found, “Ingestion of e-cigarette liquids containing 
nicotine can cause acute toxicity and possibly death if the 
contents of refill cartridges or bottles containing nicotine 
are consumed.”104 Exposure to liquid nicotine found in 
e-cigarettes has resulted in thousands of calls to poison 
control centers in recent years, peaking in 2014, according 
to the American Association of Poison Control Centers.105 In 
2014, more than half of these calls to poison hotlines were 
to report exposures among children under the age of six.106 
To address this poisoning risk, Congress in 2016 enacted 
the Child Nicotine Poisoning Prevention Act, which gave the 
Consumer Product Safety Commission authority to enforce 
child resistant packaging standards for e-cigarette products.

There is currently insufficient research on the long-term 
effects of using e-cigarettes, which involves regular inhalation 
of nicotine, glycerin or some other solvent, and other 
additives.107 According to the Surgeon General, “E-cigarette 
aerosol is not harmless. It can contain harmful and potentially 
harmful constituents, including nicotine.”108 Studies have 
found other chemicals and toxins present in some e-cigarettes, 
including formaldehyde, acrolein, volatile organic compounds 
like toluene, tobacco-specific nitrosamines, and metals like 
nickel and lead.109 These compounds are generally present 
at levels much lower than in cigarette smoke, although the 
compounds themselves are found on the FDA’s list of harmful 
or potentially harmful substances.110 Because the FDA has 
just begun to regulate e-cigarettes, which are available in 
hundreds of different brands,111 consumers cannot know for 
sure yet what is in the products or the aerosol. 112 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 4

HEALTH HARMS FROM FLAVORINGS IN TOBACCO PRODUCTS
In addition to playing a detrimental role in addicting youth and other users, some flavored tobacco 
products pose their own unique health risks. The 2016 Surgeon General’s report stated that “while 
some of the flavorings used in e-cigarettes are generally recognized as safe for ingestion as food, the 
health effects of their inhalation are generally unknown” and noted that some of the flavorings found 
in e-cigarettes have been shown to cause serious lung disease when inhaled.113 An article in the 
Journal of the American Medical Association raised concerns that the chemical flavorings found in some 
e-cigarettes and e-liquids could cause respiratory damage when the e-cigarette aerosol is inhaled deeply 
into the lungs.114 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 5

FDA and Congress Must 
Protect Kids from Flavored 
Tobacco Products
The 2009 Tobacco Control Act gave the FDA immediate regulatory authority over cigarettes, 

cigarette tobacco, smokeless tobacco and roll-your-own tobacco, and it authorized the 

FDA to extend its jurisdiction to all other tobacco products. Among other things, the law 

prohibited the sale of cigarettes with characterizing flavors other than menthol or tobacco, 

including candy and fruit flavors.
More than five years after first stating its intention to do so, the FDA in May 2016 issued a final 
rule (called the deeming rule) extending its jurisdiction to all previously unregulated tobacco 
products, including e-cigarettes, cigars and hookahs. The rule extended key provisions of the 
2009 law to these products, including provisions that prohibit sales to children under age 18 
nationwide; prohibit free samples; restrict vending machine sales to adult-only facilities; require 
addiction and health warnings; require disclosure of ingredients; prohibit the introduction of 
new products without prior FDA review and scientific evidence demonstrating a benefit to public 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 6

health; set standards manufacturers must meet before 
they are allowed to make health-related claims; and 
authorize the FDA to regulate the content of tobacco 
products.115 

However, the deeming rule did not extend the 
prohibition on characterizing flavors to these newly 
regulated products despite the substantial evidence 
that flavors play a critical role in youth use of these 
products. The FDA itself proposed removing these 
flavored products from the marketplace in the version 
of the rule that it sent to the White House Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) for review, but OMB 
deleted this provision from the final rule. This key 
change was revealed in a “redline” version of the rule 
published on May 27, 2016, which showed changes 
made by OMB.

The deleted provision would have removed flavored 
e-cigarettes, cigars, hookah and other newly regulated 
products from the market by November 2016 and 
required those products to receive pre-market 
authorization from the FDA before re-entering the 
marketplace. This provision would also have affected 
menthol-flavored products. The deleted portion of 
the rule provided 17 pages of scientific evidence to 
support removing flavored products from the market, 
concluding that these products should be removed 
“given the attractiveness of flavors, especially to youth 
and young adults, and the impact flavored tobacco 
products may have on youth initiation.”115 

Despite this change in the final rule, the FDA retains 
another pathway for reviewing and removing 
flavored tobacco products from the market. The 
rule requires all new tobacco products introduced 
after February 15, 2007, to undergo FDA scientific 
review to determine their impact on public health, 
including their appeal to kids (products can remain 
on the market for up to three years from the rule’s effective date – until August 2019 – while 
undergoing this review). The FDA has the authority to remove from the market products that 
it determines are harmful to public health, including the many sweet-flavored e-cigarettes and 
cigars that have been introduced during this time period.

https://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=FDA-2014-N-0189-83193


T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 7

However, two bills introduced in Congress would significantly weaken the FDA’s authority over 
these newly regulated products and make it much more difficult, if not impossible, for the FDA 
to remove sweet-flavored products from the market. One bill (H.R.1136) would “grandfather” 
e-cigarettes, cigars and other newly deemed tobacco products already on the market (those 
introduced between February 15, 2007, and August 8, 2016, when the FDA’s rule took effect) and 
exempt these products from the critical FDA review needed to determine their impact on public 
health. Tobacco companies would also be able to introduce similarly flavored products in the 
future. In short, this bill would allow existing flavored tobacco products to stay on the market and 
make it easier for tobacco companies to introduce new ones.

In September 2016, The New York Times reported that Altria drafted the legislation to change the 
“grandfather” date for e-cigarettes, cigars and other newly-regulated products and that it was 
endorsed by R.J. Reynolds. The Times reported that the legislation as introduced “pulled verbatim 
from the industry’s draft.”117 Reynolds and Altria make two of the best-selling e-cigarette brands 
in the U.S. (Vuse and MarkTen).

A second bill (S.294/H.R.564) would exempt what the tobacco industry calls “traditional large 
and premium cigars,” but defines such cigars so broadly that it could also exempt some cheap, 
machine-made, flavored cigars that are widely used by kids. This legislation invites manufacturers 
to manipulate their products to qualify for the exemption and continue targeting kids, as they 
have done before.

In addition to being introduced as stand-alone legislation, such measures have also been added 
in recent years to the U.S. House appropriations bill that funds the FDA. They could be considered 
again this year as Congress finalizes appropriations for the rest of Fiscal Year 2017 and considers 
appropriations bills for Fiscal Year 2018. A large coalition of public health and medical groups has 
repeatedly urged Congress to reject these measures.

Given the strong evidence summarized in this report that flavored tobacco products such as 
e-cigarettes and cigars are attracting and addicting a new generation of kids, Congress must reject 
any proposals to weaken FDA oversight of these products. In fact, the FDA should strengthen its 
new rule by prohibiting all flavored tobacco products, including menthol products. As the FDA 
itself has demonstrated and as this report documents, there is more than sufficient scientific 
evidence to support such a prohibition. Eliminating all flavored tobacco products is a critical step 
in preventing tobacco companies from addicting another generation of kids and reversing our 
nation’s progress in the fight against tobacco.



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 8

1 See U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s 
(FDA) Flavored Tobacco webpage at http://
www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/Guid-
anceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/
FlavoredTobacco/default.htm.

2 U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services (HHS), E-Cigarette Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults. A Report of the 
Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. De-
partment of Health and Human Services, 
Centers for Disease Control and Preven-
tion, National Center for Chronic Disease 
Prevention and Health Promotion, Office 
on Smoking and Health, 2016.

3 National Cancer Institute (NCI), Cigars: 
Health Effects and Trends. Smoking and 
Tobacco Control Monograph No. 9, 1998, 
http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/Brp/tcrb/
monographs/9/m9_complete.pdf.

4  Centers for Disease Control and Preven-
tion (CDC), “Youth Risk Behavior Surveil-
lance—United States, 2015,” MMWR, 
65(6), June 10, 2016. http://www.cdc.
gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/2015/
ss6506_updated.pdf.

5 CDC, “Tobacco Use Among Middle and 
High School Students — United States, 
2011-2015,” Morbidity and Mortality 
Weekly Report (MMWR) 65(14):361-
367, April 14, 2016, http://www.cdc.gov/
mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6514a1.
pdf.

6 CDC, “Tobacco Use Among Middle and 
High School Students — United States, 
2011-2015,” Morbidity and Mortality 
Weekly Report (MMWR) 65(14):361-
367, April 14, 2016, http://www.cdc.gov/
mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6514a1.
pdf.

7 University of Michigan, Monitoring the 
Future Study, 2016, http://www.monitor-
ingthefuture.org/data/16data/16cigtbl7.
pdf.

8 Data from YRBS, YTS and other state-spe-
cific surveys. 43 states include AL, AK, AZ, 

AR, CA, CO, DE, FL,  HI, ID, IL, IN, KY, ME, 
MD, MA, MI, MN, MS, MO, MT, NE, NV, 
NH, NJ, NM, NY, NC, ND, OK, OR, PA, RI, SC, 
SD, TN, TX, VT, VA, WA, WV, WI and WY. 

9 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and 
Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

10 Bunnell, R., et al., “Intentions to smoke 
cigarettes among never-smoking U.S. 
middle and high school electronic cigarette 
users, National Youth Tobacco Survey, 
2011-2013,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 
Epub ahead of print, pii: ntu166, August 
2014.

11 CDC, “Youth Risk Behavior Surveil-
lance—United States, 2015,” MMWR, 
65(6), June 10, 2016. http://www.cdc.
gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/2015/
ss6506_updated.pdf.

12 Data from YRBS, YTS and other 
state-specific surveys. 33 states include 
AL, AZ, CA, CO, DE, FL, GA, ID, IL, KS, KY, LA, 
ME, MD, MA, MI, MN, MS, MO, MT, NV, 
NH, NM, NY, ND, PA, RI, SC, SD, TN, VT, VA 
and WY.

13 Morris, DS, Fiala, SC, “Flavoured, 
non-cigarette tobacco for sale in the USA: 
an inventory analysis of Internet retailers,” 
Tobacco Control [Epub ahead of print] doi: 
10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2013-051059, 
August 8, 2013.

14 “Flavors Add New Dimension to Tobac-
co,” Convenience Store News, October 1, 
2007.

15 Kostygina, G, Glantz, S, & Ling, PM, 
“Tobacco industry use of flavours to recruit 
new users of little cigars and cigarillos,” To-
bacco Control 25(1):66-74, January 2016.

16 U.S. Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade 

Bureau (TTB), Tobacco Statistics. December 
2000, 2014, 2015, https://www.ttb.gov/
tobacco/tobacco-stats.shtml. 

17 Niksic, M, “Flavored Smokes: 
Mmmmm...More Profits?”Tobacco Retail-
er, April 2007.

18 Niksic, M, “Flavored Smokes: 
Mmmmm...More Profits?” Tobacco Retail-
er, April 2007.

19 Delnevo, CD, et al., “Changes in the 
mass-merchandise cigar market since the 
Tobacco Control Act,” Tobacco Regulatory 
Science, 3(2 Suppl 1): S8-S16, 2017. [In press]

20 HHS, Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) 
Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and 
Quality. National Survey on Drug Use and 
Health, 2014. ICPSR36361-v1. Ann Arbor, 
MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political 
and Social Research [distributor], 2016-03-
22. http://doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR36361.v1

21 Swedish Match, “No. 2 worldwide 
in cigars,” March 7, 2007, http://www.
swedishmatch.com/Media/Pressreleas-
es-and-news/News/No-2-worldwide-in-
cigars/. 

22 Savona, D, “Cigars of a Different Flavor,” 
Cigar Aficionado, July/August 2005.

23 Viola, AS, et al., “A cigar by any other name 
would taste as sweet,” Tobacco Control, 
published online October 1, 2015. See also 
Delnevo, CD, et al., “Changes in the mass-mer-
chandise cigar market since the Tobacco 
Control Act,” Tobacco Regulatory Science, 3(2 
Suppl 1): S8-S16, 2017. [In Press]

24 Delnevo, CD, et al., “Close, but no 
cigar: certain cigars are pseudo-cigarettes 
designed to evade regulation,” Tobacco 
Control, Online first, doi:10.1136/tobacco-
control-2016-052935, May 24, 2016. 

25 HHS, Preventing Tobacco Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults, A Report of the 
Surgeon General, 2012, http://www.cdc.
gov/Features/YouthTobaccoUse/.

Sources



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

2 9

26 House Committee on Energy & Com-
merce, “Energy and Commerce Commit-
tee Requests Information on Sales and 
Marketing of Flavored Tobacco Products,” 
October 2, 2009, accessed April 18, 2012 
at http://democrats.energycommerce.
house.gov/index.php?q=news/ener-
gy-and-commerce-committee-requests-in-
formation-on-sales-and-marketing-of-fla-
vored-tobacco-p.

27 Representative Henry A. Waxman, 
“Rep. Waxman Urges FDA to Ban Clove-Fla-
vored Cigars,” Letter to FDA Commissioner 
Margaret Hamburg, March 28, 2011, 
accessed April 18, 2012 at http://demo-
crats.energycommerce.house.gov/index.
php?q=news/rep-waxman-urges-fda-to-
ban-clove-flavored-cigars. 

28 FDA, Center for Tobacco Products, “FDA 
takes action against four tobacco manufac-
turers for illegal sales of flavored cigarettes 
labeled as little cigars or cigars,” December 
9, 2016, http://www.fda.gov/NewsEv-
ents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/
ucm532563.htm. 

29 Zhu, S-H, et al., “Four Hundred and Sixty 
Brands of E-cigarettes and Counting: Impli-
cations for Product Regulation,” Tobacco 
Control, 23(Suppl 3):iii3-iii9, 2014.

30 Zhu, S-H, et al., “Four Hundred and Sixty 
Brands of E-cigarettes and Counting: Impli-
cations for Product Regulation,” Tobacco 
Control, 23(Suppl 3):iii3-iii9, 2014.

31 Jackler, RK, and Ramamurthi, D. 
“Unicorn cartoons: marketing sweet and 
creamy e-juice to youth,” Tobacco Control, 
published online August 19, 2016.

32 “Altria’s MarkTen Getting Supersized,” 
Convenience Store News, February 19, 
2015, http://www.csnews.com/prod-
uct-categories/tobacco/altrias-mark-
ten-getting-supersized. See also: http://
www.trinketsandtrash.org/detail.php?arti-
factid=10081. 

33 blu cigs, Flavor Cartridges, accessed 
December 21, 2016 from https://www.blu.
com/en/US/flavors?view=lister. Kress, M, 
“Innovation Defines RAI’s Investor Day,” 
Convenience Store News, November 17, 
2014, http://www.csnews.com/prod-

uct-categories/tobacco/innovation-de-
fines-rais-investor-day. On June 12, 2014, 
Reynolds American, Inc. and Lorillard com-
pleted a merger, by which ownership of 
the blu brand was transferred to Imperial 
Tobacco Group PLC.

34 Johnson, A, “Up in smoke? Alamance 
e-cigarette store operators concerned 
about proposed regulations,” Times-News, 
April 30, 3014, http://www.thetimesnews.
com/news/top-news/up-in-smoke-al-
amance-e-cigarette-store-opera-
tors-concerned-about-proposed-regula-
tions-1.313005. The website for VapeRite 
ATL also boasts that customers can “mix 
well over 100,000 possible flavor and 
mix type combinations” [https://atlanta.
vaperite.com/#vape-bar, accessed May 30, 
2014].

35 Duke, JC, et al., “Exposure to Electron-
ic Cigarette Television Advertisements 
Among Youth and Young Adults,” Pediat-
rics, June 2, 2014.

36 Duke, JC, et al., “Exposure to Electron-
ic Cigarette Television Advertisements 
Among Youth and Young Adults,” Pediat-
rics, June 2, 2014 

37 CDC, “Vital Signs: Exposure to Electronic 
Cigarette Advertising Among Middle and 
High School Students—United States, 
2014,” MMWR, 64(52): 1403-1408, Janu-
ary 8, 2016, https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/
pdf/wk/mm6452.pdf. 

38 Alpert, HR, et al., “Free nicotine content 
and strategic marketing of moist snuff 
tobacco products in the United States: 
2000-2006,” Tobacco Control 17:332-338, 
2008.

39 Delnevo, C, et al., “Examining market 
trends in the United States smokeless to-
bacco use: 2005 – 2011,” Tobacco Control, 
October 31, 2012, doi:10.1136/tobacco-
control-2012-050739.

40 HHS SAMHSA Center for Behavioral 
Health Statistics and Quality. National 
Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2014. 
ICPSR36361-v1. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-uni-
versity Consortium for Political and Social 
Research [distributor], 2016-03-22. http://
doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR36361.v1

41 Delnevo, CD, et al., “Examining market 
trends in the United States smokeless 
tobacco use: 2005-2011,” Tobacco Contro, 
23: 107-112, 2014.

42 Chaloupka, F, et al., Analysis of 2012 
Nielsen Store Data, results forthcoming.

43 “Flavors Add New Dimension to Tobac-
co,” Convenience Store News, October 1, 
2007.

44 American Lung Association, An Emerg-
ing Deadly Trend: Waterpipe Tobacco Use, 
February 2007, http://www.lungusa2.org/
embargo/slati/Trendalert_Waterpipes.pdf.

45 Villanti, A., et al., “Changes in the prev-
alence and correlates of menthol cigarette 
use in the USA, 2004–2014,” Tobacco Con-
trol, published online October 20, 2016

46 U.S. Federal Trade Commission (FTC). 
Cigarette Report for 2014, 2016, https://
www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/
reports/federal-trade-commission-ciga-
rette-report-2014-federal-trade-commis-
sion-smokeless-tobacco-report/ftc_cig-
arette_report_2014.pdf[Data for top 5 
manufacturers only].

47 Courtemanche, CJ, et al., “Influence of the 
Flavored Cigarette Ban on Adolescent Tobacco 
Use,” American Journal of Preventive Medi-
cine, published online January 9, 2017.

48 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

49 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

50 Corey, CG, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among Middle and High 
School Students—United States, 2014,” 
Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 
64(38):1066-1070, 2015.

51 Villanti, AC, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among U.S. Young Adults,” 
American Journal of Preventive Medicine 
44(4):388-391, 2013.



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

3 0

52 HHS, Preventing Tobacco Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults, A Report of the 
Surgeon General, 2012, http://www.cdc.
gov/Features/YouthTobaccoUse/.

53 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and 
Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

54 Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
Services Administration (SAMHSA), HHS, 
Results from the 2015 National Survey on 
Drug Use and Health, NSDUH: Detailed Ta-
bles, 2016. http://www.samhsa.gov/data/
sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/
NSDUH-DetTabs-2015/NSDUH-Det-
Tabs-2015.pdf. Cigars are defined as cigars, 
cigarillos or little cigars.

55 2013 YRBS. King, BA, Dube, SR, & Tynan, 
MA, “Flavored Cigar Smoking Among U.S. 
Adults: Findings From the 2009–2010 
National Adult Tobacco Survey,” Nicotine & 
Tobacco Research 15(2):608-14, 2013.

56 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

57 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

58 Corey, CG, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among Middle and High 
School Students—United States, 2014,” 
Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 
64(38):1066-1070, 2015.

59 Bonhomme, MG, et al., “Flavoured 
non-cigarette tobacco product use among 
US adults: 2013-2014,” Tobacco Control, 
25: ii4-ii13, 2016.

60 Delnevo, C, et al., “Preference for fla-
voured cigar brands among youth, young 
adults and adults in the USA,” Tobacco 
Control 24(4):389-94, 2015.

61 CDC, “Tobacco Use Among Middle and 
High School Students — United States, 
2011-2015,” Morbidity and Mortality 
Weekly Report (MMWR) 65(14):361-
367, April 14, 2016, http://www.cdc.gov/
mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6514a1.
pdf.

62 CDC, “Tobacco Use Among Middle and 
High School Students — United States, 
2011-2015,” Morbidity and Mortality 
Weekly Report (MMWR) 65(14):361-
367, April 14, 2016, http://www.cdc.gov/
mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6514a1.
pdf.

63 Real Parents Real Answers, “What 
you need to know about e-cigarettes – 
Infographic,” April 23, 2014, accessed 
November 7, 2014, http://www.realpar-
entsrealanswers.com/what-you-need-to-
know-about-e-cigarettes-infographic/. See 
also https://tobacco.ucsf.edu/sites/tobac-
co.ucsf.edu/files/u9/What%20you%20
need%20to%20know%20about%20e-cig-
arettes%20%E2%80%93%20Infograph-
ic%20_%20Real%20Parents%20Real%20
Answers_may31-2014.pdf. 

64 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

65 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and 
Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

66 Bonhomme, MG, et al., “Flavoured 
non-cigarette tobacco product use among 
US adults: 2013-2014,” Tobacco Control, 
25: ii4-ii13, 2016. 

67 Pepper, JK, et al., “Adolescents’ interest 
in trying flavoured e-cigarettes,” Tobacco 
Control, 25: ii62-ii66, published online 
September 15, 2016.

68 Kong, G, et al., “Reasons for Electronic 
Cigarette Experimentation and Discon-
tinuation Among Adolescents and Young 

Adults,” Nicotine & Tobacco Research 
17(7):847-54, July 2015.

69 Connolly, GN, “The Marketing of Nico-
tine Addiction by One Oral Snuff Manufac-
turer,” Tobacco Control 4(1):73-79, Spring 
1995.

70 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

71 Corey, CG, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among Middle and High 
School Students—United States, 2014,” 
Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 
64(38):1066-1070, 2015.

72 See e.g., Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored 
Tobacco Product Use Among US Youth 
Aged 12-17 Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of 
the American Medical Association, pub-
lished online October 26, 2015. Wackows-
ki, OA and Delnevo, CD. “Young Adults’ Risk 
Perceptions of Various Tobacco Products 
Relative to Cigarettes: Results from the 
National Young Adult Health Survey,” 
Health Education & Behavior, published 
online August 24, 2015. Villanti, AC, et al., 
“Correlates of Hookah Use and Predictors 
of Hookah Trial in U.S. Young Adults,” 
American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 
48(6): 742-746, 2015.

73 CDC. “Hookahs.” Available at http://
www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/
fact_sheets/tobacco_industry/hookahs/. 
Accessed March 4, 2016

74 CDC. “Dangers of Hookah Smoking.” 
Available at http://www.cdc.gov/features/
hookahsmoking/. Accessed March 4, 2016

75 World Health Organization. WHO Advi-
sory Note: “WaterpipeTobacco Smoking: 
Health Effects, Research Needs and
Recommended Actions by Regulators,” 
WHO 2005; HHS, Prevention Tobacco Use 
Among Youth and Young Adults, A Report 
of the Surgeon General, 2012, http://
www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/
preventing-youth-tobacco-use/index.html; 
American Lung Association, An Emerging 
Deadly Trend: Waterpipe Tobacco Use, 
February 2007, http://www.lungusa2.org/
embargo/slati/Trendalert_Waterpipes.pdf. 



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

3 1

American Lung Association, Hookah Smok-
ing: A Growing Threat to Public Health, 
2011, http://www.lung.org/assets/docu-
ments/tobacco/hookah-policy-brief-updat-
ed.pdf. 

76 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the American 
Medical Association, published online Oc-
tober 26, 2015. The 2014 NYTS found that 
60.6 percent of middle and high school 
hookah smokers—totaling over 1 million 
youth—had used flavored hookah in the 
past month.

77 Ambrose, BK, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 
Years, 2013-2014,” Journal of the Ameri-
can Medical Association, published online 
October 26, 2015.

78 Corey, CG, et al., “Flavored Tobacco 
Product Use Among Middle and High 
School Students—United States, 2014,” 
Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 
64(38):1066-1070, 2015.

79 FDA. Preliminary Scientific Evaluation of 
the Possible Public Health Effects of Men-
thol versus Nonmenthol Cigarettes (2013).

80 Villanti, A., et al., “Changes in the prev-
alence and correlates of menthol cigarette 
use in the USA, 2004–2014,” Tobacco Con-
trol, published online October 20, 2016.

81 Villanti, A., et al., “Changes in the prev-
alence and correlates of menthol cigarette 
use in the USA, 2004–2014,” Tobacco Con-
trol, published online October 20, 2016

82 HHS, SAMHSA, Center for Behavioral 
Health Statistics and Quality. National 
Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2014. 
ICPSR36361-v1. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-uni-
versity Consortium for Political and Social 
Research [distributor], 2016-03-22. http://
doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR36361.v1. 

83Sterling, K, et al., “Association between 
menthol-flavoured cigarette smoking 
and flavoured little cigar and cigarillo use 
among African-American, Hispanic, and 
white young and middle-aged adult smok-
ers,” Tobacco Control 25(Suppl 2):ii21-ii31, 
November 2016.

84 Tobacco Products Scientific Advisory 
Committee, Menthol Cigarettes and Public 
Health: Review of the Scientific Evidence 
and Recommendations, July 21, 2011 
http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Adviso-
ryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMate-
rials/TobaccoProductsScientificAdvisory-
Committee/UCM269697.pdf

85 FDA. Preliminary Scientific Evaluation of 
the Possible Public Health Effects of Men-
thol versus Nonmenthol Cigarettes (2013).

86 Carpenter, CM, et al, “New Cigarette 
Brands with Flavors that Appeal to Youth: 
Tobacco Marketing Strategies,” Health 
Affairs 24(6):1601-1610, Nov/Dec 2005. 
Lewis, M. et al., “Dealing with an Innova-
tive Industry: A Look at Flavored Ciga-
rettes Promoted by Mainstream Brands,” 
American Journal of Public Health 96(2), 
February 2006.

87 Klein, S, et al., Use of flavored cigarettes 
among older adolescent and adult smok-
ers: United States, 2004 – 2005,” Nicotine 
and Tobacco Research, Volume 10, Num-
ber 7, July 2008.

88 Klein, S et al., Use of flavored cigarettes 
among older adolescent and adult smok-
ers: United States, 2004 – 2005,” Nicotine 
and Tobacco Research, Volume 10, Num-
ber 7, July 2008.

89 HHS, Preventing Tobacco Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults, A Report of the 
Surgeon General, 2012, http://www.cdc.
gov/Features/YouthTobaccoUse/.

90 Marketing Innovations, “Youth Ciga-
rette - New Concepts,” Memo to Brown & 
Williamson, September 1972, Bates No. 
170042014.

91 R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, “Con-
ference report #23,” June 5, 1974, Bates 
No. 500254578-4580.

92 R.J. Reynolds Inter-office Memorandum, 
May 9, 1974, Bates No. 511244297-4298.

93 R.M. Manko Associates report for Loril-
lard, Summary Report: New Flavors Focus 
Group Sessions, August, 1978, Bates No. 
85093450-3480.

94 HHS, Preventing Tobacco Use Among 
Youth and Young Adults, A Report of the 
Surgeon General, 2012, http://www.cdc.
gov/Features/YouthTobaccoUse/. See also 
U.S. Smokeless Tobacco. Graduation pro-
cess: Copenha¬gen. 1984. US Smokeless 
Tobacco Collection. Bates No. 4604754. 
https://www.industrydocumentslibrary.
ucsf.edu/tobacco/docs/#id=qhff0044. 

95 “Juiced Up: How a Tobacco Giant Doc-
tors Snuff Brands to Boost Their ‘Kick,’” The 
Wall Street Journal, October 26, 1994.

96 Brown, JE, et al., “Candy Flavorings in 
Tobacco,” New England Journal of Medi-
cine, 370: 2250-2252, 2014.

97 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and 
Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

98 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth and 
Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

99 NCI, Cigars: Health Effects and Trends. 
Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph 
No. 9, 1998, http://cancercontrol.cancer.
gov/Brp/tcrb/monographs/9/m9_com-
plete.pdf. Chang, CM, et al., “Systematic 
review of cigar smoking and all cause and 
smoking related mortality,” BMC Public 
Health, 15(1): 390, 2015.

100 NCI, Cigars: Health Effects and Trends. 
Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph 
No. 9, 1998, http://cancercontrol.cancer.
gov/Brp/tcrb/monographs/9/m9_com-
plete.pdf. See also, Baker, F, et al., “Health 
Risks Associated with Cigar Smoking,” Jour-
nal of the American Medical Association 
284(6):735-740, 2000.See also, Shapiro, 
JA, Jacobs, EJ, Thun, MJ, “Cigar Smoking in 
Men and Risk of Death From Tobacco-Re-
lated Cancers,” Journal of the National 
Cancer Institute, 92(4):333-7, February 16, 
2000.



T  H  E   F  L  A  V  O  R   T  R  A  P

3 2

101 Nonnemaker, J, et al., “Mortality and 
Economic Costs from Regular Cigar use in 
the United States, 2010,” American Journal 
of Public Health 104(9):e-86-91, Septem-
ber 2014.

102 HHS, The Health Consequences of 
Smoking: 50 Years of Progress. A Report 
of the Surgeon General, CDC, Office of 
Smoking and Health (OSH), 2014, http://
www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/re-
ports/50-years-of-progress/index.html. See 
also: CDC Office on Smoking and Health, 
“Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems: Key 
Facts,” July 2015. Accessed November 
19, 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/
stateandcommunity/pdfs/ends-key-facts-
oct-2016.pdf. 

103 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth 
and Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

104 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth 
and Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

105 American Association of Poison Con-
trol Centers (AAPCC), “Electronic Cigarette 
and Liquid Nicotine,” http://www.aapcc.
org/alerts/e-cigarettes/. 

106 CDC, “Notes from the Field: Calls to 
Poison Centers for Exposures to Electronic 
Cigarettes — United States, September 
2010–February 2014,” MMWR 63(13):292-
293, April 4, 2014, http://www.cdc.gov/
mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6313.pdf. 

107 CDC, “Dual Use of Tobacco Products.” 
http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/campaign/
tips/diseases/dual-tobacco-use.html#ten. 
Accessed November 19, 2015. 

108 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth 
and Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 

Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

109 Cheng, T, “Chemical Evaluation of 
Electronic Cigarettes,” Tobacco Control 
23:ii11-ii17, May 2014. Goniewicz, ML, et 
al., “Levels of selected carcinogens and tox-
icants in vapour from electronic cigarettes,” 
Tobacco Control 23(2):133-9, March 6, 
2013. Williams, M, et al., “Metal and Sili-
cate Particles Including Nanoparticles Are 
Present in Electronic Cigarette Cartomizer 
Fluid and Aerosol,” PlosOne, 8(3), March 
2013. See also Williams, M, “Electronic 
Cigarette Liquids and Vapors: Is It Harmless 
Water Vapor,” presented October 3, 2013 
at TRDRP Electronic Cigarette Webinar. 
http://www.trdrp.org/files/e-cigarettes/
williams-slides.pdf. 

110 Goniewicz, ML, et al., “Levels of se-
lected carcinogens and toxicants in vapour 
from electronic cigarettes,” Tobacco Con-
trol 23(2):133-9, March 6, 2013. Williams, 
M, et al., “Metal and Silicate Particles 
Including Nanoparticles Are Present in 
Electronic Cigarette Cartomizer Fluid and 
Aerosol,” PlosOne, 8(3), March 2013. See 
also FDA, “Harmful and Potentially Harmful 
Constituents in Tobacco Products and 
Tobacco Smoke: Established List,” March 
2012, http://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProd-
ucts/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInfor-
mation/ucm297786.htm.

111 Zhu, S-H, et al., “Four Hundred and 
Sixty Brands of E-cigarettes and Counting: 
Implications for Product Regulation,” To-
bacco Control, 23(Suppl 3):iii3-iii9, 2014. 

112 CDC, “Dual Use of Tobacco Products.” 
http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/campaign/
tips/diseases/dual-tobacco-use.html#ten. 
Accessed November 19, 2015.

113 HHS, E-Cigarette Use Among Youth 
and Young Adults. A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, National 
Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and 
Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and 
Health, 2016.

114 Barrington-Trimis, JL, Samet, JM, & 

McConnell, R, “Flavorings in Electronic 
Cigarettes: An Unrecognized Respiratory 
Health Hazard?” The Journal of the Amer-
ican Medical Association, doi:10.1001/
jama.2014.14830, published online No-
vember 10, 2014.

115 Deeming Tobacco Products To Be 
Subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Fam-
ily Smoking Prevention and Tobacco 
Control Act; Restrictions on the Sale 
and Distribution of Tobacco Products 
and Required Warning Statements for 
Tobacco Products (May 10, 2016), 81 FR 
28973, https://www.federalregister.gov/
documents/2016/05/10/2016-10685/
deeming-tobacco-products-to-be-subject-
to-the-federal-food-drug-and-cosmetic-act-
as-amended-by-the. 

116 Deeming Final Rule Redline Changes 
in Docket No. FDA-2014-N-0189-83193, 
Deeming Tobacco Products to be Subject 
to the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as 
Amended by the Family Smoking Preven-
tion and Tobacco Control Act; Regulations 
on the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco 
Products and Required Warning State-
ments for Tobacco Products (May 27, 
2016), https://www.regulations.gov/docu-
ment?D=FDA-2014-N-0189-83193. 

117 Lipton, E, “A Lobbyist Wrote the 
Bill. Will the Tobacco Industry Win Its 
E-Cigarette Fight?” New York Times, 
September 2, 2016, http://www.nytimes.
com/2016/09/03/us/politics/e-ciga-
rettes-vaping-cigars-fda-altria.html.



 

 

Mono County - Healthy People, Healthy Communities 
Mono County Health Department PO Box 3329, Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

Mono County Board of Supervisors: Phone (760) 932-5433 

District 1: Jennifer Halferty, District 2: Fred Stump, District 3: Bob Gardner, 

District 4: John Peters, District 5: Stacy Corless, CAO: Leslie Chapman 

                                                                                                                                        

 

 

 

 

January 30, 2019 

Youth Epidemic Warrants Banning the Sale of Flavored Tobacco Products 

Adolescent and child use of addictive flavored tobacco products has reached epidemic levels in our communities and 

across the United States. Use of e-cigarettes (vaping) by high school students nearly doubled over the past year to over 

one in five kids, with about one in ten middle school students also reporting current use of flavored tobacco products.  

Most of these kids are using flavored e-cigarettes, inhaling chemical aerosols created by heating solutions containing 

nicotine and flavoring agents seemingly developed for young people. With flavors such as Gummy Bear, Cotton Candy, 

Berry Cobbler, Cherry Crush, Vivid Vanilla and host of others, e-cigarette liquids are enticing to many youths.  

Tobacco use is the leading cause of preventable disease, disability and death in the United States, and the rapid rise in 

use by young people, driven by use of flavored products, threatens to reverse recent progress in reducing tobacco use. 

Among minors, e-cigarettes are the most commonly used tobacco product today although child use of flavored cigars 

and smokeless tobacco (flavored snuff) is unfortunately growing also. 

 Flavors are an essential part of the problem: Tobacco companies have long used flavored products to entice new users 

because flavors improve taste and reduce harshness. Congress banned flavored cigarettes (except menthol) in 2009 

because the risks to minors was clear, but the Tobacco Control Act did not address flavored cigars or e-cigarettes, which 

were little-known at that time. Since then the tobacco industry has effectively exploited the shortcomings of this federal 

law by developing countless flavored e-cigarette liquids, cigars and smokeless (spit) tobacco, all of which are more 

popular among children and young adults than they are with older tobacco users.  

Over 80% of youth e-cigarette users say they use them “because they come in flavors I like.” A government study found 

that 81% of 12-17 year old kids who had used tobacco started with a flavored tobacco product (PATH, 2013-14) 

Vaping is probably less harmful than smoking although e-cigarettes have not been around long enough to understand 

long-term health risks. One risk is crystal clear: e-cigarettes contain nicotine, which is highly addictive, and nicotine 

addiction too often leads to smoking.  

• Eighty percent of young smokers started vaping nicotine before they smoked.   

• A 2016 study found that e-cigarette users are 6 times more likely to smoke cigarettes compared to people who 

had never vaped nicotine. (Pediatrics, Barrington-Trimis, et al., 2016)*.  

• Almost all adult smokers began smoking when they were kids and close to 90% started before they were 18 

years old (CDC.gov). 

Public Health 

Mōno-Gram 

Tom Boo, MD, FAAFP, DTM&H  Sandra Pearce, MS, RN, PHN, CNS 
Public Health Officer   Public Health Director 
Phone: 760.924.1828   Phone: 760.924.1818 
tboo@mono.ca.gov  spearce@mono.ca.gov 

www.monohealth.com 

 
 

 

 

 
 

mailto:tboo@mono.ca.gov
mailto:spearce@mono.ca.gov
http://www.monohealth.com/


 

 

Mono County - Healthy People, Healthy Communities 
Mono County Health Department PO Box 3329, Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

Mono County Board of Supervisors: Phone (760) 932-5433 

District 1: Jennifer Halferty, District 2: Fred Stump, District 3: Bob Gardner, 

District 4: John Peters, District 5: Stacy Corless, CAO: Leslie Chapman 

 JUUL’s sleek e-cigarette devices currently dominate the market. One JUUL “pod” of flavored liquid nicotine contains 

about the amount of nicotine in one to two packs of cigarettes (https://www.aafp.org/patient-care/public-

health/tobacco-nicotine/e-cigs.html)  

• JUUL’s phenomenal recent growth mirrors the alarming rise in child and adolescent use  

• Kids 15-17 years old are SIXTEEN TIMES more likely to be current JUUL users than young adults 25-34 years ( 

truthinitiative.org ) 

• Although JUUL liquid has a nicotine concentration about twice as high as most other e-cigarettes a study found 

that 63% of young JUUL users did not know that JUUL always contains nicotine ( truthinitiative.org ) 

• Products like JUUL, with higher nicotine levels, appear to pose greater risk: studies show that young people 

vaping high nicotine products are more likely to start smoking (Leventhal, et al, JAMA Pediatrics, 2018) 

 

Nicotine is considered bad for young, developing brains.  A 2016 report by the U.S. Surgeon General noted that nicotine 

use in adolescence harms the parts of the brain involved in attention, learning, mood and impulse control (E-cigarette 

Use Among Youth and Young Adults: A Report of the Surgeon General [PDF – 8.47MB]. Atlanta, GA: US Department 

of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2016).  Such neurobehavioral effects may be lasting.  

We do not know enough about other possible health effects of vaporized tobacco products and flavorings. E‐cigarette 

aerosols have been found to contain at least ten chemicals that are on California’s Proposition 65 list of chemicals 

known to cause cancer, birth defects or other reproductive harm.  

Little is known about the possible effects of inhaling aerosolized flavoring chemicals. Most of these flavors are 
generally considered safe when ingested in food but we simply do not know whether there are risks when 
such aldehydes and ketones are heated and inhaled. Some of these chemicals cause harm to the lungs of 
animals, and it seems reckless to permit human consumption of such unstudied products (“Toxicological 
Concerns from Inhaled Food Flavorings Found in Electronic (E-) Cigarette Aerosols: A Report from the Environmental 
Health Investigations Branch”, CDPH, January 2017) 

 
To combat rising child use of tobacco, in 2016 California raised the age for purchasing tobacco products to 21 years (we 

are currently one of 6 states requiring purchasers to be 21; in other states the age is 18). But clearly the current 

approach is not working: three-quarters of teenage JUUL users in a recent national survey reported that they had 

purchased JUUL products at retail stores, over half had gotten it from friends or family, and 6% had purchased JUUL over 

the internet. 

 Prompt actions at multiple levels are needed to reverse this addiction trend. U.S Surgeon General Dr. Jerome Adams 

last month issued a warning about e-cigarettes, with messages to parents, schools, healthcare providers and 

communities ( https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/documents/surgeon-generals-advisory-on-e-cigarette-use-

among-youth-2018.pdf ).  

The Surgeon General urges parents, teachers and healthcare providers to learn more about flavored electronic nicotine 

delivery devices and the potential risks, to talk to kids about the dangers and take other appropriate steps to discourage 

use, including instituting school policies that more effectively deter all forms of tobacco use. Communities are advised to 

take steps to limit the access of minors to these products.  

I endorse the Surgeon General’s advice but believe that even stronger action is needed:  We should ban the sale of 

flavored tobacco products completely, closing the giant loopholes in the 2009 federal law. In 2018 Mono County 

https://www.aafp.org/patient-care/public-health/tobacco-nicotine/e-cigs.html
https://www.aafp.org/patient-care/public-health/tobacco-nicotine/e-cigs.html
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/e-cigarettes/pdfs/2016_sgr_entire_report_508.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/e-cigarettes/pdfs/2016_sgr_entire_report_508.pdf
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/documents/surgeon-generals-advisory-on-e-cigarette-use-among-youth-2018.pdf
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/documents/surgeon-generals-advisory-on-e-cigarette-use-among-youth-2018.pdf


 

 

Mono County - Healthy People, Healthy Communities 
Mono County Health Department PO Box 3329, Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546 

Mono County Board of Supervisors: Phone (760) 932-5433 

District 1: Jennifer Halferty, District 2: Fred Stump, District 3: Bob Gardner, 

District 4: John Peters, District 5: Stacy Corless, CAO: Leslie Chapman 

became one of at least a dozen California communities to prohibit the sale of flavored tobacco products in 

unincorporated parts of the county.  But the benefits of such bans are diminished by the continued availability of these 

products in neighboring jurisdictions. I hope that the Town of Mammoth Lakes and neighboring counties recognize that 

the exploding public health threat of flavored tobacco products justifies making sales illegal, regardless of age.  

Tom Boo, MD, FAAFP 

Mono County Public Health Officer 

437 Old Mammoth Road, Suite Q 

Mammoth Lakes, CA 93546   

760 924-1828 

tboo@mono.ca.gov 



4/8/2019 Newsroom > Some E-cigarette Users Are Having Seizures, Most Reports Involving Youth and Young Adults

https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm635133.htm 1/3

Some E-cigarette Users Are Having
Seizures, Most Reports Involving Youth
and Young Adults

The FDA has become aware that some people who use e-cigarettes
(/TobaccoProducts/Labeling/ProductsIngredientsComponents/ucm456610.htm) have experienced seizures,
with most reports involving youth or young adult users. Seizures or convulsions are known potential side effects of
nicotine toxicity and have been reported in the scientific literature in relation to intentional or accidental swallowing
of e-liquid. However, a recent uptick in voluntary reports of adverse experiences with tobacco products that
mentioned seizures occurring with e-cigarette use (e.g., vaping) signal a potential emerging safety issue. The FDA
continues to monitor all adverse experiences reported to the agency about the use of e-cigarettes and encourages
the public to report cases of individuals who use e-cigarettes and have had a seizure via the online Safety
Reporting Portal (/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm377563.htm), as further described
below.

Seizures result from sudden, abnormal electrical activity in the brain. Though often associated with convulsions in
which a person’s entire body shakes uncontrollably, not all seizures show full-body shaking. Other possible signs of
seizures include a lapse in awareness or consciousness, which may look like a person is staring blankly into space
for a few seconds or suddenly stops moving. The person may or may not fall down. Most seizures end in a few
seconds or minutes, and the person may seem fine, sleepy, confused or have a headache afterwards. They may
not remember what they were doing or what happened right before the seizure. While seizures generally do not
cause lasting harm, they indicate the need for prompt medical attention to look for a cause and to prevent future
seizures, if possible. If you think a person is having a seizure, call 911 and seek immediate medical help. For
exposures with less serious visible effects or if you have questions, call poison control at 800-222-1222.

The FDA has been receiving voluntary adverse experience reports
(/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm581911.htm) about tobacco products since 1988,
including accepting online reports since 2014 via the Safety Reporting Portal (SRP). Consumers have also reported
adverse experience information directly to poison control centers. Since June 2018, the FDA observed a slight but
noticeable increase in reports of seizures. After examining poison control centers' reports between 2010 and early

 en Español (http://esp.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/default.htm)

https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/Labeling/ProductsIngredientsComponents/ucm456610.htm
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm377563.htm
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm581911.htm
http://esp.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/default.htm


4/8/2019 Newsroom > Some E-cigarette Users Are Having Seizures, Most Reports Involving Youth and Young Adults

https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm635133.htm 2/3

2019, the FDA determined that, between the poison control centers and the FDA, there were a total of 35 reported
cases of seizures mentioning use of e-cigarettes within that timeframe. Due to the voluntary nature of these case
reports, there may be more instances of seizure in e-cigarette users than have been reported. 

Seizures have been reported among first-time e-cigarette users and experienced users. In a few situations, e-
cigarette users reported a prior history of seizure diagnosis. A few reported cases indicated seizures in association
with use of other substances such as marijuana or amphetamines. Seizures have been reported as occurring after
a few puffs or up to one day after use. Most of the self-reported data that the FDA has received does not contain
any specific brand or sub-brand information about the e-cigarette.

While detailed information is currently limited, the FDA is alerting the public to this important and potentially serious
health issue.

Healthcare providers should be aware that seizures may be associated with e-cigarette use—redacted reports
of past incidents (/downloads/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/UCM635154.pdf) are available on the FDA
website and may assist medical evaluations of seizures.
Consumers should recognize the wide range of symptoms that may be associated with e-cigarette use and the
importance of reporting new or unexpected seizures to their doctor or clinic.

Parents, teachers, and other concerned adults should be aware that many youth are using e-cigarettes that
closely resemble a USB flash drive, have high levels of nicotine and emissions that are hard to see.
Youth and young adult users should also be aware that some e-cigarettes (also called vapes) can contain high
levels of nicotine, even as much nicotine as a pack of regular cigarettes. Teens who vape may end up addicted
to nicotine faster than teens who smoke. Vapes may be used more frequently because they are easier to hide
and may expose users to more nicotine. There are no safe tobacco products.

The FDA is seeking more information about seizures following e-cigarette use to identify common risk factors and
understand if any e-cigarette product attributes such as nicotine content or formulation may contribute to seizures. If
you or someone you know experiences any unexpected health or safety issues with any tobacco product, please
report it through the Safety Reporting Portal (SRP). SRP users may upload relevant medical records in support of
or instead of a full SRP report.

When reporting an adverse experience, please be sure to include:

The name of the manufacturer
The brand name, model, and serial number of the device or e-liquid, if applicable

Where the device or e-liquid was purchased
Whether the device or e-liquid was modified in any way or whether there was a device malfunction
Whether other tobacco products, medications, supplements or other substances were used

Whether there were any other symptoms (i.e., nausea, vomiting) or warning right before the adverse experience,
such as change in the user’s behavior, alertness, vision or hearing
Details about product use preceding the event (duration, amount and intensity of e-cigarette use)
Details about health effects, including specific areas of the body affected, how symptoms progressed, how long
they lasted, the course of the recovery, and the medical testing or care and decisions rendered

Additional Resources

https://www.fda.gov/downloads/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/UCM635154.pdf


4/8/2019 Newsroom > Some E-cigarette Users Are Having Seizures, Most Reports Involving Youth and Young Adults

https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm635133.htm 3/3

CDC – Seizure First Aid (https://www.cdc.gov/epilepsy/about/first-aid.htm?
CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fepilepsy%2Fbasics%2Ffirst-aid.htm)
Medline Plus - Seizures (https://medlineplus.gov/seizures.html)
Safety Reporting Portal for Tobacco Products
(/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm377563.htm)
Tobacco Product Problem Reports (/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm581911.htm)
Think E-Cigs Can’t Harm Teen’s Health? (/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm633034.htm)
American Association of Poison Control Centers: Tobacco & Liquid Nicotine Recommendations
(https://www.aapcc.org/prevention/tobacco-liquid-nicotine)
(http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/AboutThisWebsite/WebsitePolicies/Disclaimers/default.htm)

 

More in Newsroom
(/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/default.htm)

https://www.cdc.gov/epilepsy/about/first-aid.htm?CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fepilepsy%2Fbasics%2Ffirst-aid.htm
https://medlineplus.gov/seizures.html
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm377563.htm
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/PublicHealthScienceResearch/ucm581911.htm
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/ucm633034.htm
https://www.aapcc.org/prevention/tobacco-liquid-nicotine
http://www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/AboutThisWebsite/WebsitePolicies/Disclaimers/default.htm
https://www.fda.gov/TobaccoProducts/NewsEvents/default.htm


  

1 
 

Surgeon General’s Advisory on E-cigarette Use Among 
Youth 

I, Surgeon General of the United States Public Health Service, VADM Jerome Adams, am emphasizing the importance 

of protecting our children from a lifetime of nicotine addiction and associated health risks by immediately addressing the 

epidemic of youth e-cigarette use. The recent surge in e-cigarette use among youth, which has been fueled by new 

types of e-cigarettes that have recently entered the market, is a cause for great concern. We must take action now to 

protect the health of our nation’s young people.  

KNOW THE RISKS. TAKE ACTION. PROTECT OUR KIDS. 

The E-cigarette Epidemic Among Youth 

Considerable progress has been made in reducing cigarette smoking among our nation’s youth.1 However, the 
tobacco product landscape continues to evolve to include a variety of tobacco products, including smoked, 
smokeless, and electronic products, such as e-cigarettes.2 E-cigarettes are designed to deliver nicotine, 
flavorings, and other additives to the user via an inhaled aerosol.2  

E-cigarettes entered the U.S. marketplace around 2007, and since 2014, they have been the most commonly 
used tobacco product among U.S. youth.2 E-cigarette use among U.S. middle and high school students increased 
900% during 2011-2015, before declining for the first time during 2015-2017.3 However, current e-cigarette use 
increased 78% among high school students during the past year, from 11.7% in 2017 to 20.8% in 2018.4 In 2018, 
more than 3.6 million U.S. youth, including 1 in 5 high school students and 1 in 20 middle school students, 
currently use e-cigarettes.4  

E-cigarette aerosol is not harmless.2 Most e-cigarettes contain nicotine – the addictive drug in regular cigarettes, 
cigars, and other tobacco products.2 Nicotine exposure during adolescence can harm the developing brain – 
which continues to develop until about age 25.2 Nicotine exposure during adolescence can impact learning, 
memory, and attention.1,2 Using nicotine in adolescence can also increase risk for future addiction to other 
drugs.1,2 In addition to nicotine, the aerosol that users inhale and exhale from e-cigarettes can potentially expose 
both themselves and bystanders to other harmful substances, including heavy metals, volatile organic 
compounds, and ultrafine particles that can be inhaled deeply into the lungs.2  

Many e-cigarettes also come in kid-friendly flavors. In addition to making e-cigarettes more appealing to young 
people,5 some of the chemicals used to make certain flavors may also have health risks.2 E-cigarettes can also be 
used to deliver other drugs, including marijuana.2 In 2016, one-third of U.S. middle and high school students who 
ever used e-cigarettes had used marijuana in e-cigarettes.6 

For adults, e-cigarettes may have the potential to reduce risk for current smokers if they completely transition from 
cigarettes to e-cigarettes; however, a majority of adults who use e-cigarettes also smoke cigarettes.7 For youth, 
the use of multiple tobacco products puts youth at even greater risk for addiction and tobacco-related harms.1,2 
Moreover, a 2018 National Academy of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine report concluded that there was 
moderate evidence that e-cigarette use increases the frequency and intensity of cigarette smoking in the future.7 
But any e-cigarette use among young people is unsafe, even if they do not progress to future cigarette smoking.2  

E-cigarettes Come in Many Shapes and Sizes 

E-cigarettes are a rapidly changing product class, and are known by many different names, including “e-cigs,” “e-
hookahs,” “mods,” and “vape pens.”2 Recently, a new type of e-cigarette has become increasingly popular among 
our nation’s youth due to its minimal exhaled aerosol, reduced odor, and small size, making it easy to conceal.8 
Many of these new e-cigarettes look like a USB flash drive, among other shapes. One of the most commonly sold 



  

2 
 

USB flash drive shaped e-cigarettes is JUUL, which experienced a 600% surge in sales during 2016-2017, giving 
it the greatest market share of any e-cigarette in the U.S. by the end of 2017.9 Other companies are now also 
starting to sell e-cigarettes that look like USB flash drives. 

All JUUL e-cigarettes have a high level of nicotine. A typical JUUL cartridge, or “pod,” contains about as much 
nicotine as a pack of 20 regular cigarettes.10 These products also use nicotine salts, which allow particularly high 
levels of nicotine to be inhaled more easily and with less irritation than the free-base nicotine that has traditionally 
been used in tobacco products, including e-cigarettes. This is of particular concern for young people, because it 
could make it easier for them to initiate the use of nicotine through these products and also could make it easier to 
progress to regular e-cigarette use and nicotine dependence. However, despite these risks, approximately two-
thirds of JUUL users aged 15-24 do not know that JUUL always contains nicotine.11  

You Can Take Action 

We must take aggressive steps to protect our children from these highly potent products that risk exposing a new 
generation of young people to nicotine.2,7 The bad news is that e-cigarette use has become an epidemic among 
our nation’s young people. However, the good news is that we know what works to effectively protect our kids 
from all forms of tobacco product use, including e-cigarettes.1,2,12 We must now apply these strategies to e-
cigarettes, including USB flash drive shaped products such as JUUL. To achieve success, we must work 
together, aligning and coordinating efforts across both old and new partners at the national, state, and local 
levels. Everyone can play an important role in protecting our nation’s young people from the risks of e-cigarettes.  

Information for Parents  

 You have an important role to play in addressing this public health epidemic. 

 Learn about the different shapes and types of e-cigarettes and the risks of all forms of e-cigarette use for young 
people at https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/.  

 Set a good example by being tobacco-free. If you use tobacco products, it’s never too late to quit. Talk to a 
healthcare professional about quitting all forms of tobacco product use. For free help, visit smokefree.gov or 
call 1-800-QUIT-NOW. 

 Adopt tobacco-free rules, including e-cigarettes, in your home and vehicle.  

 Talk to your child or teen about why e-cigarettes are harmful for them. It’s never too late. 

 Get the Surgeon General’s tip sheet for parents, Talk With Your Teen About E-cigarettes, at https://e-
cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/. Start the conversation early with children about why e-cigarettes, including 
JUUL, are harmful for them. 

 Let your child know that you want them to stay away from all tobacco products, including e-cigarettes, because 
they are not safe for them. Seek help and get involved.  

o Set up an appointment with your child’s health care provider so that they can hear from a medical 
professional about the health risks of tobacco products, including e-cigarettes. 

o Speak with your child’s teacher and school administrator about enforcement of tobacco-free school 
policies and tobacco prevention curriculum. 

o Encourage your child to learn the facts and get tips for quitting tobacco products at 
Teen.smokefree.gov. 
 

Information for Teachers 

 You have an important role to play in addressing this public health epidemic. 

 Learn about the different shapes and types of e-cigarettes and the risks of all forms of e-cigarette use, 
including JUUL, for young people at https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/.  

 Develop, implement, and enforce tobacco-free school policies and prevention programs that are free from 

tobacco industry influence, and that address all types of tobacco products, including e-cigarettes. 

https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/
http://www.smokefree.gov/
tel:1-800-784-8669
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/documents/SGR_ECig_ParentTipSheet_508.pdf
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/
https://teen.smokefree.gov/
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/


  

3 
 

 Engage your students in discussions about the dangers of e-cigarette use. To help you, the Food and 

Drug Administration (FDA), and Scholastic, developed free resources for teachers. These materials can 

be found at www.scholastic.com/youthvapingrisks.  

Information for Health Professionals 

 You have an important role to play in addressing this public health epidemic. 

 Learn about the different shapes and types of e-cigarettes and the risks of all forms of e-cigarette use, 
including JUUL, for young people at https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/.  

 Ask about e-cigarettes, including small, discreet devices such as JUUL, when screening patients for the 

use of any tobacco products. 

 Educate patients about the risks of all forms of tobacco product use, including e-cigarettes, for young 

people. 

 Encourage patients to quit. For free help, patients can visit smokefree.gov or call 1-800-QUIT-NOW. 

Information for States, Communities, Tribes, and Territories 

 You have an important role to play in addressing this public health epidemic. 

 Implement evidence-based population-level strategies to reduce e-cigarette use among young people, 

such as including e-cigarettes in smoke-free indoor air policies, restricting young peoples’ access to e-

cigarettes in retail settings, licensing retailers, implementing price policies, and developing educational 

initiatives targeting young people. 

 Implement strategies to curb e-cigarette advertising and marketing that are appealing to young people.  

 Implement strategies to reduce access to flavored tobacco products by young people.  

KNOW THE RISKS. TAKE ACTION. PROTECT OUR KIDS. 

References 

1. Office of the Surgeon General. The Health Consequences of Smoking-50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon 
General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US), 
National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2014. 
https://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/50-years-of-progress/full-report.pdf. 

2. Office of the Surgeon General. E-cigarette Use among Youth and Young Adults: A Report of the Surgeon General. 
Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. 
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/e-cigarettes/pdfs/2016_sgr_entire_report_508.pdf. 

3. Wang TW, Gentzke A, Sharapova S, et al. Tobacco Use Among Middle and High School Students - United States, 2011-
2017. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67(22):629-633. 

4. Cullen KA, Ambrose BK, Gentzke AS, Apelberg BJ, Jamal A, King BA. Notes from the Field: Increase in use of electronic 
cigarettes and any tobacco product among middle and high school students – United States, 2011-2018. MMWR 
Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report 2018; 67(45):1276-1277. 

5. Ambrose BK, Day HR, Rostron B, et al. Flavored Tobacco Product Use Among US Youth Aged 12-17 Years, 2013-2014. 
Jama. 2015;314(17):1871-1873. 

6. Trivers KF, Phillips E, Gentzke AS, Tynan MA, Neff LJ. Prevalence of Cannabis Use in Electronic Cigarettes Among US 
Youth. JAMA pediatrics. 2018;172(11):1097-1099. 

7. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2018. Public Health Consequences of E-Cigarettes. 
Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24952. 

8. Ramamurthi D, Chau C, Jackler RK. JUUL and other stealth vaporisers: hiding the habit from parents and teachers. Tob 
Control. 2018. Epub ahead of print. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054455. 

9. King BA, Gammon DG, Marynak KL, Rogers T. Electronic Cigarette Sales in the United States, 2013-2017. Jama. 
2018;320(13):1379-1380. 

http://www.scholastic.com/youthvapingrisks
https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/
https://www.smokefree.gov/
tel:1-800-784-8669
https://www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/reports/50-years-of-progress/full-report.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/e-cigarettes/pdfs/2016_sgr_entire_report_508.pdf


  

4 
 

10. Willett JG, Bennett M, Hair EC, et al. Recognition, use and perceptions of JUUL among youth and young adults. Tob 
Control. 2018. Epub ahead of print. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2018-054273.  

11. Truth Initiative. JUUL e-cigarettes gain popularity among youth, but awareness of nicotine presence remains low.  
https://truthinitiative.org/news/juul-e-cigarettes-gain-popularity-among-youth. 

12. US Department of Health and Human Services. Preventing tobacco use among youth and young adults. Atlanta, GA: US 
Department of Health and Human Services, CDC;2012. 
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/2012/index.htm. 

 

https://truthinitiative.org/news/juul-e-cigarettes-gain-popularity-among-youth
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/2012/index.htm


1

ESCOG STAFF REPORT

Subject: Consider formation of an Eastern Sierra Council of Governments Joint
Powers Authority

Meeting Date: April 12, 2019

BACKGROUND:

The Eastern Sierra Council of Governments (ESCOG) currently exists as a body that shares
ideas and discussions between elected officials representing the Town of Mammoth Lakes,
City of Bishop, and Inyo and Mono Counties. As an information sharing body, the ESCOG
currently operates under a joint powers agreement. The ESCOG has expressed an interest
in creating a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) that would allow the Board to take action on
various items affecting the region.

Creation of a JPA would create a new governmental body in the Eastern Sierra. As a
separate body, the ESCOG may be delegated certain authority and funding from the
member agencies. It may act independently from the members or in concert with member
agencies.

The ESCOG historically has not had any staff assigned to work on its behalf. Clerking
duties have rotated between the four agencies, although a recent change will assign those
duties to a new Town of Mammoth Lakes position that will be funded in part by each of
the four ESCOG agencies. The new position will be responsible for coordinating and
clerking meetings and maintaining the ESCOG website. A JPA would likely require more
permanent staff assistance, which could be provided through formal agreements with
member agencies or direct hire or contract employee(s).

The following discussion is in response to the presentation provided by member agency
Chief Administrators at the last ESCOG meeting.

ANALYSIS:

Mono County Counsel has taken the lead on working to draft a JPA agreement. If the
agreement is approved by the ESCOG, a number of additional tasks would need to take
place prior to any JPA becoming effective. The first step is for each member agency’s
governing body to approve the JPA. To facilitate this process, the following is proposed:

1. ESCOG finalizes the JPA agreement to its satisfaction.

2. A detailed scope of work will be prepared to support the intent of the JPA.

3. The formation steps and cost estimates will need to be completed with enough detail

for the member agencies to consider the near-term requirements to form the JPA.



2

4. The scope of work and JPA agreement will need to be presented to each of the four

member agencies. This presentation should be made by ESCOG Board Members.

Each of the four agencies would need to approve the JPA document in order to

participate.

If the JPA is approved by each of the four agencies, a number of items will need to occur
in order to finalize the adoption of the JPA. Most likely, the Board would need to hire a
staff person to oversee these tasks (or contract with member agencies). The cost for this
work would likely need to be allocated by the member agencies. The following initial steps
have been identified by staff and legal counsel as requirements for the formation of a JPA:

1. Finalize the JPA document, with any amendments from member agencies

2. File the document with the Secretary of State

3. Adopt a Conflict of Interest Code

4. File new (or amended) Form 700s

5. Secure insurance for the JPA

6. Acquire legal counsel/representation

7. Draft and adopt a budget and detail member agency financial requirements

8. Set regular meeting schedule (adopt by resolution)

9. Adopt Bylaws for the new JPA

STAFFING CONSIDERATIONS:

It is likely that the ESCOG will need to hire staff in order to conduct work on its behalf.
There are several possible options for how this could occur:

1. Contract with a member agency: Assuming there is staff capacity, a member agency

could volunteer to work on behalf of the ESCOG to complete the necessary tasks.

In this case, the staff person would bill for all time allocated to the work and would

be reimbursed by the JPA.

2. The JPA could directly hire an employee. Human Resources capability as well as

benefits administration would be needed to conduct the hiring process and to

support the employee once on board.

3. The JPA could hire a contract employee. The contract would outline the scope of

work and terms of employment.

4. The JPA could hire an employee through a temp agency. The temp agency would

be responsible for all employee support. However, this would require a specific

knowledge of the tasks that need to be completed as someone from the JPA would

need to provide technical assistance to such an employee.



3

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:

At this point in time, it has not been determined what the financial impact to the four
agencies would be if the JPA were to be adopted. An estimate ranging from $20,000 to
$35,000 is likely needed to complete the above tasks in setting up the new JPA.
Ultimately the financial impact would depend upon the activity of the ESCOG as well as
the type of staffing solution that the JPA chooses to employ.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS:

Adoption of the JPA would create a new governmental entity in the Eastern Sierra. The
JPA structure is provided under State law and is a legal process used by multiple agencies
across the state to provide regional services. The Eastern Sierra Transit Authority (ESTA)
is a local example. This body would have the authority to take action on certain items,
which could override the authority and autonomy of the individual agencies in some
cases.

Attachments

 Draft JPA

 Draft Bylaws

 Current ESCOG Agreement



1

JO IN T P O W ER S A GR EEM EN T ES T A BL IS HIN G T HEEA S T ER N S IER R A CO U N CIL O FGO VER N M EN T S
A S A S EP A R A T EL EGA L EN T IT Y FR O M IT S M EM BER A GEN CIES

T hisagreem ent,m adeandenteredintothis_____________ day of______________,by and

am ongtheCounty ofM ono,apoliticalsubdivisionoftheS tateofCalifornia(“ M ono” ),theCounty of

Inyo,apoliticalsubdivisionoftheS tateofCalifornia(“ Inyo” ),theT ow nofM am m othL akes,am unicipal

corporation(“ T ow n” )andtheCity ofBishop,am unicipalcorporation(“ City” )(collectively “ M em ber

Agencies” or“ M em bers” ),shallsupersedeandreplace,initsentirety,thatAm ended JointP ow ers

Agreem entEasternS ierraCouncilofGovernm entEntities(CO G)enteredintoby andam ongtheP arties

onoraboutFebruary 26,1999.

I. R ecitals

1.01 In1995,theCountiesofInyoand M onoandtheT ow nofM am m othL akesexecutedajoint

pow ersagreem ent(JP A)establishingtheEasternS ierraCouncilofGovernm ents(ES CO G). T he

1995 JP A w asam endedin1999 toaddtheCity ofBishopasaparty.

1.02 S inceitsestablishm ent,theES CO G hasfunctioned asaforum forcom m unicationam ong

M em berAgenciesregardingissuesofregionalconcernand,m orerecently,fortheplanningand

im plem entationofregionalcom m unicationsandbroadbandsolutionsthroughthe

establishm entoftheInyo-M onoBroadbandConsortium . T heES CO G hasnothistorically

operatedasajointpow ersauthority independentfrom itsM em bers,nortakenthenecessary

stepstobecom esuchanindependentlegalentity.

1.03 T heM em berAgenciesacknow ledgeandagreethattherearecircum stancesw hereitis

necessary ordesirablefortheM em berAgenciestofunctioncollectively onaregionalbasis,such

asw hereregionalizationenhancesfundingopportunities,providesresourcesandcapabilities

thatw ould nototherw isebeavailable,orim provesthedelivery ofservicestobenefitthe

interestsoftheM em bers’ constituents.

1.04 T heM em berAgenciesfurtheragreethatthecreationofaregionaljointpow ersauthority thatis

aseparatelegalentity from theM em bersw ouldpositiontheES CO G tom axim izeand take

advantageoftheseopportunities.

1.05 Article1 ofChapter5ofDivision7 ofT itle1,com m encingw ithsection6500,oftheCalifornia

Governm entCodeauthorizestw oorm orepublicagencies,by jointpow ersagreem entapproved

by theirgoverningbodies,tojointly exerciseany pow erscom m ontothem and/ortocreatea

separatelegalentity forthepurposeofexercisingsuchpow ers.

1.06 ItistheintentoftheP artiestoenterintoajointpow ersagreem entpursuanttotheprovisions

ofsections6500 etseq.toestablishajointpow ersauthority,theEasternS ierraCouncilof

Governm ents,w hichw ouldsupersedeandreplacethehistoricES CO G establishedin1995(and

m odifiedin1999),forthepurposesofenhancingfundingandresourceopportunitiesand

providingsuchprogram s,servicesorfunctionsthattheM em berAgencies,by approvaloftheir

governingbodies,deem necessary ordesirable.



2

II. P urposes

2.01 T heES CO G shallcontinuetobeorganizedto: (1)provideaforum fordiscussionandstudy of

regionalissuesofinteresttotheM em berAgencies;(2)identify and planforthesolutionof

selectedregionalissuesrequiringm ulti-governm entalcooperation;(3)facilitateactionsand

agreem entsam ongtheM em berAgenciesforspecificprojectdevelopm ent;(4)conductother

regionw idefunctionsastheM em bersdeem appropriate.

2.02 Inadditiontotheabove,theES CO G shallbeorganizedtoidentify fundingsourcesandtoapply
forandreceivefundingfortheplanningandim plem entationofprogram sofregionalim pactor
significance,andtoim plem entsuchprogram s,uponapprovalofthegoverningbodiesofeach
M em berAgency.

III. P ow ers

3.01 T ocontractorotherw iseparticipatein,andtoacceptgrants,fundsorservicesfrom theS tateor

Federalgovernm ent,theiragenciesorinstrum entalitiesorfrom any civicorganizationorprivate

person(includingbutnotlim itedtocorporations)inconnectionw ithany program judged by the

ES CO G Boardtoberelevanttoitspurposes,and uponapprovalofthegoverningbodiesofthe

M em berAgencies.

3.02 T oacceptgifts,bequestsordonationsinsupportofcurrentprogram softheES CO G orto

supportongoingoperatingexpenses.

3.03 T ocontractforany servicesjudgedby theES CO G tobenecessary orconvenientforcarryingout

itspurposesandtopay thecostsofsuchservicesinaccordancew ithsection5.02. S uch

contractsm ay bew ithanES CO G M em ber,uponagreem entby thatM em berandtheES CO G,or

w ithanoutsideagency orfirm andm ay includecontractsfor:

a. Generallegalservices.

b. L itigationorspecializedlegalservices.

c. L iability Insuranceand,w hereapplicable,w orkers’ com pensationinsurance.

d. Hum anR esourcesservices.

e. O thergovernm entalservicesrequiredtooperatetheES CO G m ay beprovidedby a

M em ber,JP A stafforanindependentcontractor.

3.04 T oincurdebts,liabilitiesorobligationsthatarenotthedebts,liabilitiesorobligationsofthe

M em berAgencies,exceptasrequiredby Governm entCodesections6508.1,6508.2,20574.1

and20575,enactedby AB 1912 in2018,w hichrequirethatthem em bersofadissolvingjoint

pow ersagency apportionany P ER S liability am ongthem selvesandallow sCalP ER S tom akethe

apportionm entifthem em berscannotagree.

3.05 T oem ploy personnelincludinganExecutiveDirectorand/orsuchotherstaffastheM em bers

deem appropriateandtoestablishthepow ersanddutiesofsuchpersonnel



3

3.06 T oinvest,inaccordancew ithGovernm entCodesection6509.5,m oniesinthetreasury ofthe

ES CO G thatisnotim m ediately requiredfornecessitiesoftheES CO G.

3.07 W iththeapprovalofthegoverningbodiesofeachoftheM em berAgencies,toraiserevenues

throughtheim positionoffees,assessm ents,taxesortheissuanceofbonds,inaccordancew ith

applicablelaw s.

3.08 T oincurlongorshort-term indebtedness.

3.09 T oow n,leaseorlicenserealorpersonalproperty and/orequipm entw hichisnecessary or

propertocarry outthepurposesoftheES CO G.

3.10 Allotherpow ersthatarenecessary orpropertocarry outthepurposesoftheES CO G.

Eachoftheabovepow ersm ay beexercisedby theES CO G inthesam em anner,and subjecttothesam e

restrictions,assuchpow ersareexercisedby theT ow nofM am m othL akes.

IV. O rganization-T heinternalorganizationoftheES CO G shallbeasfollow s:

4.01 M em bership. M em bersshallconsistoftheCounty ofInyo,theCounty ofM ono,theT ow nof

M am m othL akesand theCity ofBishop,uponapprovalofthisagreem entby thegoverningbody

ofeach,andtheexecutionofthisagreem entby anauthorized representativeofeachM em ber.

EachM em bershallbeentitledtoberepresentedby tw orepresentatives,eachofw hom shallbe

am em berofthelegislativebody ofsuchM em ber.

4.02 Board ofDirectors,O fficersandM eetings.

a. T heES CO G shallhaveaBoardofDirectorscom prisedoftw orepresentatives,and uptotw o

alternates,appointedby eachofthegoverningbodiesofitsM em bers. T heterm ofofficeof

eachdirectorshallnotexceedhisorherterm ofofficeonthelegislativebody heorshe

represents.

b. U ponexecutionofthisagreem entby allfourM em berAgencies,theES CO G representatives

havingpreviously beenappointedby thegoverningbodiesoftheM em berAgenciesshall

continuetoserveasdirectorsoftheES CO G fortheterm sforw hichthey w erepreviously

appointed. T heterm ofofficeofeachsubsequently-appointedrepresentativeshallbefour

(4)years. Ifavacancy occursontheboard,itshallbefilledby appointm entofthegoverning

body oftheaffectedM em berandsuchappointedrepresentativeshallserveforthe

rem ainderoftheterm .

c. T heboardofdirectorsshallelectfrom am ongitsm em bersaChair,Vice-chairandS ecretary

foraterm ofone(1)year. T hem em berscurrently servinginthoseofficesshallcontinueto

servefortherem ainderoftheirappointedterm s,exceptthatthem em ber,ifany,previously

appointedtoserveasS ecretary shallinsteadserveasS ecretary. N otw ithstandingthe



4

above,theofficeofS ecretary m ay beanadm inistrativestaffpersonoftheES CO G orofa

M em berAgency designated by theboardofdirectors.

d. T heES CO G shallestablishregularm eetingsoftheboardofdirectorsw hichshallbenotless

thanone(1)suchm eetingeachcalendarquarter.

e. Allm eetingsoftheES CO G shallbenoticedandcarriedoutinaccordancew iththeprovisions

oftheR alphM .Brow nAct.

f. A m ajority oftheboardofdirectorsshallconstituteaquorum forthetransactionof

business. N oresolutionorm otionshallbepassedorbecom eeffectivew ithoutaffirm ative

voteofatleastam ajority ofthem em bershipoftheboard and,forthoseactionsrequiring

approvalby thegoverningbodiesoftheM em berAgencies,by eachandevery M em ber

Agency,unlessotherw iseindicated.

V. FinancialP rovisions

5.01 EachM em bershallcontributetotheadm inistrativesupportoftheES CO G. Adm inistrative

supportisunderstood asthosecosts,expendituresand obligationsw hichm aintainone(1)0.5

FT Eagency adm inistrativestaffpersononadaily operatingbasis. EachM em ber’scontributions

toadm inistrativetim eandsupportshallbeaccountedfor. ItisintendedthateachM em berw ill

providetw enty-fivepercent(25% )ofthe0.5FT Eadm inistrativestaffperson,unlessotherw ise

agreed by theboardofdirectors,andshallagreeinadvanceregardingany additional

adm inistrativesupport.

5.02 M em bersm ay m akefinancialcontributionstotheES CO G inany m annerauthorizedby

Governm entCodesection6504. Allcontractcostsincurredpursuanttosection3.03 ofthisJP A

shallbedividedequally am ongtheM em bers.Any financialcontributionsotherthanforcosts

undersection3.04 shallbeprovidedonanindividualprojectbasisandapprovedby the

governingbody oftheM em berAgency providingsuchsupport. Any advancesofpublicfundsto

theES CO G shallberepaidinthem annerprovidedinthedocum entauthorizingtheadvance

5.03 T heES CO G’sfiscalyearshallcom m enceonJuly 1 ofeachyearand term inateonJune30 ofthe

follow ingyear.

5.04 T heFinanceDirectoroftheCounty ofM onoshallserveastheFiscalAgent,T reasurerand

Auditor(hereinafter“ T reasurer” )fortheES CO G,unlessotherw isedirectedby am ajority ofthe

board. T heT reasurershallberesponsibleforallm oney oftheES CO G from w hateversource,

shallbethedepositary and havecustody ofthem oney oftheES CO G,andshallperform all

dutiesandfunctionsoftheT reasurerassetforthinGovernm entCodesections6505,6505.5,or

any otherapplicablestate,federalorlocallaw orregulation. AllfundsoftheES CO G shallbe

strictly andseparately accounted forandregularreportsshallberenderedofallreceiptsand

disbursem entsduringthefiscalyear. M em bersshallsharethecostsofthisserviceequally.



5

5.05 N othingcontainedinthisagreem entshallbindany M em bertoafinancialcom m itm enton

behalfoftheES CO G,exceptasspecifically provided.

VI. P roperty andR ecords

6.01 U ponany dissolutionoftheES CO G,any surplusm oney orproperty shallbedisposedofby

divisionam ongtheM em bersinthesam eproportionassuchM em berscontributedtothe

ES CO G.

6.02 T heT ow nofM am m othL akesshallserveastherepository ofallrecordsoftheES CO G. R ecord

retentionshallconform totherequirem entsoflaw . Any recorddestructionshallfirstbe

approvedby theboardofdirectors. T heboardofdirectorsm ay provideforrecordretention

beyondtherequirem entsoflaw .

VII.GeneralP rovisions

7.01 Am endm ents. T hisagreem entm ay beam endedatany tim eby alloftheM em berAgencies

actingthrougham ajority voteoftheirgoverningbodies. IntheeventtheES CO G should

determ inethatanam endm enttothisagreem entw ouldbeinthebestinterestsoftheES CO G

anditsM em berAgencies,itm ay proposesucham endm entforratificationby thegoverning

bodiesofeachM em berAgency. T hisagreem entshallbedeem edandbesoam endeduponthe

datethelastgoverningbody approvessucham endm ent.

7.02 Voluntary Association. Itisunderstood andagreedthatm em bershipandparticipationinthe

ES CO G asdescribedinthisagreem entisvoluntary. Any M em berm ay w ithdraw by giving

w rittennoticetothegoverningbodiesoftheotherM em berAgenciesinthem annerprovidedin

thisagreem entforthecom m unicationofnotices.

7.03 W ithdraw al. A M em berm ay w ithdraw from theES CO G by providingw rittennoticetothe

rem ainingM em bersatleastninety (90)dayspriortotheendofthefiscalyear,andshallrem ain

liableforitsshareoffinancialsupportand/orcontributiontotheES CO G throughtheendofthat

fiscalyear. Exceptforpaym entsrequiredby AB 1912 (2018)anddescribedinsection3.04,a

w ithdraw ingM em bershallnotbeliabletotheES CO G orany oftheotherM em bersforpaym ent

ofcontributionsorfinancialsupporttotheES CO G notpreviously com m itted by thatM em ber.

7.04 DissolutionandT erm ination. T heES CO G m ay bedissolvedandthisagreem entterm inatedat

any tim einthesam em annerasprovidedforam endm entinsection7.01. T heES CO G shall

autom atically bedissolveduponw ithdraw alof2 ofitsM em bers.

7.05 EffectiveDateandT erm ofAgreem ent. T hisagreem entshallbeandbecom eeffectiveforall

purposesw henapprovedby thegoverningbodiesofeachoftheM em berAgenciesand shall

rem aininfullforceandeffectunlessanduntildissolvedorterm inatedinthem annerprovided

inthisagreem ent.



6

7.06 N otices. Intheeventitisorbecom esnecessary foraparty tothisagreem enttoserveorgive

noticetoany otherparty,suchnoticeshallbedeem edvalidly servedandgivenifdepositedina

U nitedS tatesP ostO fficew ithpostagethereoffully prepaid,sentregisteredorcertifiedm ail

and,iftoInyoCounty,addressedtotheCounty Adm inistrator,Adm inistrativeCenter,County of

Inyo,P O .BoxN ,Independence,California93526;iftoM onoCounty,addressed totheCounty

Adm inistrativeO fficeratP .O .Box 696,Bridgeport,California93517;iftotheT ow nofM am m oth

L akes,addressed totheT ow nM anageratP .O .Box1609,M am m othL akes,California93546;

and,ifintendedfortheCity ofBishop,addressedtotheCity M anagerat337W estL ineS treet,

Bishop,California93514.

7.07 Inurem ent. T hisagreem entshallinuretothebenefitofandbebindinguponthepartieshereto

andtheirsuccessors.

VIII. Execution

IN W IT N ES S W HER EO F,theM em berAgencieshaveexecutedthisagreem entasofthedatelastw ritten

below .

CO U N T Y O FIN YO DAT ED:__________________________

AT T ES T :__________________________
BY:______________________ ClerktotheBoard

Chair,BoardofS upervisors
AP P R O VED AS T O FO R M :

__________________________________
InyoCounty Counsel

CO U N T Y O FM O N O DAT ED:__________________________

AT T ES T :__________________________
BY:______________________ ClerktotheBoard

Chair,BoardofS upervisors

AP P R O VED AS T O FO R M :

__________________________________
M onoCounty Counsel

T O W N O FM AM M O T H L AKES DAT ED:__________________________

AT T ES T :__________________________
BY:______________________ T ow nClerk



7

T ow nM ayor

AP P R O VED AS T O FO R M :

__________________________________
T ow nAttorney

CIT Y O FBIS HO P DAT ED:__________________________

AT T ES T :__________________________
BY:______________________ City Clerk

City M ayor

AP P R O VED AS T O FO R M :

__________________________________
City Attorney



Bylaw s

O f

T heEasternS ierraCouncilofGovernm entA gencies(ES CO G)

AR T ICL EI
M EET IN GS

S ection1: R egularM eetings.

T heEasternS ierraCouncilofGovernm ents(ES CO G)shallholdregularquarterly m eetings. T hetim eand

placeofsuchm eetingsshallbesetby theES CO G inaccordancew iththerequirem entsoftheR alphM .

Brow nAct(Governm entCode§§ 54950 etseq.)(the“ Brow nAct” ).

S ection2: S pecialM eetings.

S pecialm eetingsm ay becalled by theChairathisorherdiscretion,orby theChairuponrequestby a

Director,inaccordancew iththerequirem entsoftheBrow nAct.

S ection3: CancellationofM eetings.

T heChairm ay cancelany regularorspecialm eeting,unlessthereisanobjectionby aDirector. T he

Chair,orany Director,m ay cancelam eetingforlackofaquorum .

S ection4: Com m itteeM eetings.

S tandingoradhoccom m itteem eetingsm ay becalledby thecom m itteechair.

S ection5: N oticeandConductofM eetings.

Allm eetingsshallbenoticedandconductedinaccordancew iththerequirem entsoftheBrow nAct.

AR T ICL EIII
O FFICER S

S ection1. Chair

T heDirectorsshallelectfrom am ongthem aChair. T heChairshallbeelectedannually atthefirst

regularm eetingofeachfiscalyear.

S ection2: Vice-Chair

T heDirectorsshallelectfrom am ongthem aVice-Chair. T heVice-Chairshallbeelectedannually atthe

firstregularm eetingofeachfiscalyear. T heVice-Chairshallactintheplaceofandhaveallofthe

pow ersanddutiesoftheChairintheChair’sabsence.

S ection3: S ecretary



T heS ecretary shallprepareanagendaandtakem inutesofallm eetingsoftheES CO G,m aintainapublic

recordoftheES CO G’sm eetings,transactionsandbusiness. T heS ecretary m ay bearegularpaid

em ployeeofaM em berAgency oranoutsideindividualorfirm asdeterm inedby theES CO G.

S ection4: ExecutiveDirector

T heES CO G m ay em ploy anExecutiveDirectortoserveatthepleasureoftheES CO G. S uchExecutive

Directorm ay bearegularpaidem ployeeofany M em berAgency oranoutsideindividualorfirm as

determ inedby theES CO G.

AR T ICL EV
CO M M IT T EES

S ection1: Com m ittees

T heDirectorsm ay establishsuchtechnicaland/oradvisory com m itteesasdeterm inedtobenecessary

ordesirabletoservetheneedsandaccom plishthepurposesoftheES CO G.

AR T ICL EVI
AM EN DM EN T S

T heseBylaw sm ay beam endedby am ajority voteoftheDirectorsatany regularm eetingprovidedthat

noticeoftheproposedam endm enthasbeensubm ittedinw ritingby theS ecretary totheDirectorsat

leastfifteen(15)calendardayspriortothem eetingatw hichtheam endm entisproposed tobe

considered.

ADO P T ED this_________ day of____________,2019.

______________________________
JeffGriffiths,Chair
EasternS ierraCouncilofGovernm ents

AT T ES T :

_________________________
S ecretary


















	Flavored tobacco pamphlet.pdf

